
  
                    
                RReevv ii sseedd  
TTaazzeewweellll CCoouunnttyy  BBooaarrdd     
Wednesday, July 31, 2024  
David Zimmerman, Chairman of the Board 
Michael Harris, Vice-Chairman of the Board 

 
COUNTY BOARD AGENDA            3 
 
EXECUTIVE  E-24-75 APPOINTMENT TO COUNTY BOARD FOR DISTRICT 2   5  
                
MINUTES             6  

 
TRANSPORTATION T-24-27 RESOLUTION 22-00026-00-DR – TOBOGGAN RD. ENG. AGREEMENT –  14 

BLR 05530 
 

TRANSPORTATION T-24-28 RESOLUTION 24-00026-00-DR – TOBOGGAN RD. AMENDED BLR 09110 32 
 
TRANSPORTATION  T-24-29 INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT WITH MENARD COUNTY HIGHWAY 34 
 
LAND USE  LU-24-11 CASE. NO. 24-25-S – HAWK-ATTOLO, LLC – SPECIAL USE – MALONE TWP.43 
 
LAND USE  LU-24-12 CASE NO. 24-26-S – FAST AVE. SOLAR, LLC – SPECIAL USE – MACKINAW  58  

TWP. 
 
PROPERTY  P-24-20 BID FOR COUNTERTOPS AND CABINETRY AT 1800 BROADWAY IN PEKIN 72 
 
HUMAN RESOURCES HR-24-16 SALARY FOR THE SHERIFF      74 
 
HUMAN RESOURCES HR-24-17 SALARY FOR THE CHIEF PUBLIC DEFENDER    75 
 
EXECUTIVE  E-24-59 ELECTION JUDGE LIST       77 
 
EXECUTIVE  E-24-73 AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTER 95: FOOD ESTABLISHMENTS   244 
 
EXECUTIVE  E-24-85 NATIONAL OPIOID SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WITH KROGER  280 
 
EXECUTIVE  E-24-87 3RD QUARTER 2024 PAYMENT TO GREATER PEORIA ECONOMIC   336 

DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE  E-24-88 RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF MUNICIPALLY OWNED RIGHT   338 
     OF WAY  

 
EXECUTIVE  E-24-89 PROPOSED CHANGE TO FY23 ENERGY TRANSITION GRANT FUND PROJECTS 349 
 
 
EXECUTIVE  E-24-90 INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION  353  

TO TAZEWELL AND WOODFORD COUNTIES 
 

EXECUTIVE  E-24-76 EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT WITH ADMINISTRATOR MICHAEL   356 
     DELIVERY 

    Upon approval of in-place meeting 
 

1



      
EXECUTIVE    APPOINTMENTS AND REAPPOINTMENTS     365 
  
AUGUST 2024 CALENDAR OF MEETINGS            367 

2



                       REVISED 
   TAZEWELL COUNTY BOARD 
   James Carius Community Room 

101 S. Capitol Street 
Pekin, Illinois 61554 

 
Wednesday, July 31, 2024 - 6:00 p.m. 

 
David Zimmerman - Chairman of the Board 
Michael Harris - Vice Chairman of the Board 

 
A. Roll Call 

B. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance  

E-24- 75 C.  Approve appointment to County Board for District 2  
 

D. Communications from members of the public and county employees 
  

E. Communications from elected and appointed county officials   
 

F. Approve the minutes of the June 26, 2024 County Board Proceedings  
 

G. In-Place Executive Committee Meeting  
 

H. Consent Agenda: 

Transportation 
 

T-24-27  1. Approve Resolution 22-00026-00-DR – Toboggan Rd. Eng. Agreement –  
BLR 05530 
 

 T-24-28  2. Approve Resolution 24-00026-00-DR – Toboggan Rd. Amended BLR 09110 
 
 T-24-29  3. Approve Intergovernmental Agreement with Menard County Highway 

  
Land Use 

LU-24-11  4. Approve Case No. 24-25-S – Hawk-Attollo, LLC – Special Use – Malone Twp. 
 
LU-24-12  5. Approve Case No. 24-26-S – Fast Ave. Solar, LLC – Special Use – Mackinaw  

Twp. 
   

 Property 
 

  P-24-20  6. Approve bid for countertops and cabinetry at 1800 Broadway in Pekin 
3



   
 
 
 

Human Resources 

HR-24-16  7. Approve the salary for the Sheriff 

HR-24-17  8. Approve the salary for the Chief Public Defender  

   Executive 
 

E-24-59  9. Approve Election Judge List 
 

  E-24-73  10. Approve amendments to Chapter 95: Food Establishments 
 
E-24-85  11. Approve National Opioid Settlement Agreement with Kroger 
 
E-24-87  12. Approve 3rd quarter 2024 payment to Greater Peoria Economic  

Development Council 
 

E-24-88  13. Approve Resolution Authorizing Conveyance of Municipally Owned Right of  
    Way 
 
E-24-89  14. Approve proposed change to FY23 Energy Transition Grant Fund projects 
 
E-24-90  15. Approve Intergovernmental Agreement to Provide Public Transportation to  

Tazewell and Woodford Counties  
 
E-24-76  16. Approve Employment Agreement with Administrator Michael  
    Deluhery 
    Upon approval of in-place meeting 
   

  Appointments and Reappointments 
 
  E-24-72  17. Approve appointment of Meghan Brake to the Human Services  

Transportation Planning Commission 
 
  E-24-86  18. Approve appointment of Richard Jameson to the Tremont Fire Protection 
    District 
   

I. Unfinished Business 
 
J. New Business 

 
K. Review of approved bills 
 
LL..  Approve the August 2024 Calendar of Meetings   
  
MM..  Recess to August 28, 2024  

4



E-24-75 
 COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Executive Committees have considered the following RESOLUTION and 
recommends that it be adopted by the Board: 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

R E S O L U T I O N 
 

WHEREAS, the Executive Committee recommends to the County Board to approve the 
formal appointment of Eric Stahl to the Tazewell County Board; and  
 
WHEREAS, Eric Stahl will serve out the unexpired term in District 2 of Randi Krehbiel as 
prescribed by law. 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board approve this recommendation. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notifies the County Board Office and 
Payroll of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 31st DAY OF JULY, 2024. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
________________________________  ________________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk    Tazewell County Board Chairman 

5



Chairman David Zimmerman    Vice Chairman, Michael Harris, Dist. 3      
Kim D. Joesting, Dist. 1       Jay Hall, Dist. 1 
Nancy Proehl, Dist. 1      Michael Deppert, Dist. 1 
Mark Goddard, Dist. 1          Sam Goddard, Dist. 1 
Kaden Nelms, Dist. 1       Jon Hopkins, Dist. 2        
Nick Graff, Dist. 2            Maxwell Schneider, Dist. 2          
Greg Menold, Dist. 2            Roy Paget, Dist. 2         
Greg Sinn, Dist. 2              Vacant, Dist. 2        
Eric Schmidgall, Dist. 3           John C. Ackerman       Russ Crawford, Dist. 3 
Dave Mingus, Dist. 3         County Clerk     William (Bill) Atkins, Dist. 3 
Tammy Rich-Stimson, Dist. 3      Greg Longfellow, Dist. 3 

TAZEWELL COUNTY BOARD  
MEETING MINUTES 

WEDNESDAY JUNE 26, 2024 
6:00 PM 

James Carius Community Room, Tazewell Law & Justice Center, 
101 S. Capitol Street, Pekin, Illinois 61554 

 ROLL CALL BY COUNTY CLERK 

Attendance was taken by Roll Call and the following members of the board were 
present:  Chairman Zimmerman, Members Atkins, Crawford, Deppert, Sam Goddard, 
Mark Goddard, Graff, Hall, Hopkins, Joesting, Longfellow, Menold, Mingus, Nelms, 
Paget, Proehl, Rich-Stimson, Schmidgall, Schneider, Sinn - 20.  Absent: Vice Chairman 
Harris – 1. 

INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Chairman Zimmerman led the invocation followed by the Pledge of Allegiance. 

COMMUNICATION FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND/OR COUNTY 
EMPLOYEES 

William Funkhouser, candidate for Tazewell County Auditor, spoke on the referendum 
language that is on the agenda.  He spoke on the auditor position and his plans if 
elected in November. 

Matt Hoffman, a concerned citizen, spoke on the Catmint Solar Special Use Permit 
request and the options the board could take concerning this matter. He provided a 
handout to the board. 

Carol Vance, a concerned citizen, spoke in opposition to the proposed Catmint Solar 
project. 

Sean Pluta, Catmint Solar Representative, spoke on the special use permit proposal for 
Catmint Solar. 

DRAFT
6



Dewey Klurfield, representative of Catmint Solar LLC, spoke on the extension of the 
special use permit for the proposed Catmint Solar project. He encouraged the board to 
reconsider their decision from the May board meeting. 

John Kahl Mayor, City of East Peoria, spoke on his opposition to Catmint Solar.  He 
stated he was against the location that was chosen for this project and encouraged the 
board not to reconsider this project. 

Keatin Foor, Representative of Land & Liberty Coalition, spoke on land owners rights 
and farmer’s rights. 

Linda Betzelberger, a concerned citizen, spoke in support of the Coyote Road Solar 
project. 

Toby Rademaker, a concerned citizen, spoke on behalf of a family member that 
supports Coyote Road Solar project. 

Linda Long, a Mackinaw resident, spoke on her opposition to the two solar projects on 
the agenda.  She provided a handout to the board members. 

Joyce Aggertt, a concerned citizen, spoke on the negative impacts of the proposed 
solar project.  She provided a handout to the board members. 

Arthur McCrear, a concerned citizen, spoke on his opposition to the Coyote Road Solar 
project. 

David King, a concerned citizen, spoke on agriculture preservation districts and his 
concern with solar farms. 

Matt Bender, Carpenters Local 237 Representative, spoke in support for the Coyote 
Road Solar project. 

Eli Varol, RWE Development Manager, spoke on the proposed Coyote Road Solar 
project. 

Joon Park, RWE Development Director, spoke on the proposed Coyote Road Solar 
project. 

Mark Quarles, RWE Representative, spoke on the benefits of the solar project. 

Ben Jacobi, attorney with Polsinelli law firm, spoke on the proposed Coyote Road Solar 
project. 

 

 

DRAFT
7



COMMUNICATIONS FROM ELECTED & APPOINTED COUNTY OFFICIALS 

Member Graff suggested Chairman Zimmerman move agenda items LU-24-06 and LU-
24-08 to the beginning of the meeting. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Member Sam Goodard motioned to enter into Executive Session pursuant to Section 2 
(c) 11 Litigation, when an action against, affecting or on behalf of the particular public 
body has been filed and is pending before court or administrative tribunal, or when the 
public body finds that an action is probable or imminent, in which case the basis for the 
finding shall be recorded and entered into the minutes of the closed meeting; seconded 
by Member Hopkins.  Motion passed by 18 Yeas; 1 Nays – Crawford. 

The Tazewell County Board entered into executive session at 7:07 PM and ended at 
7:28 PM. 

Land Use:  LU-24-06 – Reconsideration of Case No. 23-38-A – Catmint Solar – 
Special Use – Groveland Township 

Member Graff motioned to bring back to the board floor the reconsideration of LU-24-
06; second by Member Proehl.  Motion passed by roll call vote of 14 Yeas; 5 Nays – 
Crawford, Deppert, Paget, Rich-Stimson, Schmidgall. 

Member Graff spoke on the previous vote and the impact on the citizens of Tazewell 
County.  He confirmed that motion to amend the special use permit for a one year 
extension was still valid from the May board meeting. 

Member Menold stated he was not in favor of this project, but will vote yes because of 
the circumstances. 

Member Crawford spoke in opposition to this project.  He voiced concern about East 
Peoria being land locked. 

Member Atkins indicated in this matter the law should apply. 

Member Hopkins stated he would support the extension on the basis of the law. 

Motion to reconsider Case No. 23-38-A-Catmint Solar-Special Use – Groveland 
Township passed by roll call vote of 12 Yeas; 6 Nays – Crawford, Deppert, Longfellow, 
Mingus, Paget, Schmidgall; 1 Present – Graff.  Resolution LU-24-06 passed the 
Tazewell County Board. 

 

DRAFT
8



Land Use:  LU-24-08 – Reconsideration of Case No. 24-13-S-Coyote Road Solar, 
LLC – Special Use – Malone/Delavan Township 

Motion by Member Menold to bring back to board floor the reconsideration of LU – 24-
08; seconded by Member Proehl.  Motion passed by roll call vote of 16 Yeas; 3 Nays – 
Crawford, Paget, Rich-Stimson. 

Motion to reconsider Case No. 24-13-S-Coyote Road Solar, LLC – Special Use – 
Malone/Delavan Township passed by roll call vote of 13 Yeas; 6 Nays – Crawford, 
Deppert, Graff, Rich-Stimson, Schmidgall, Sinn.  Resolution LU-24-08 passed the 
Tazewell County Board. 

APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE MAY 29, 2024, COUNTY BOARD PROCEEDINGS  

Member Mingus moved to approve the minutes of the Board Meeting held on May 29, 
2024, as printed; seconded by Member Nelms.  Motion to approve the minutes as 
printed were approved by voice vote of 19 Yeas; 0 Nays. 

IN-PLACE PROPERTY COMMITTEE MEETING 

Meeting started at 7:47 PM and ended at 7:49 PM. 

IN-PLACE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING 

Meeting started at 7:49 PM and ended at 7:54 PM. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

1. Transportation:  Approve 24-00000-10-GM – Cured In-Place Pipe Lining, 
Resolution T-24-22. 
 

2. Transportation:  Approve 24-00000-09-RS-HMA Resurfacing, Resolution T-24-
23. 

 
3. Transportation:  Approve 24-19000-02-GM – Bituminous A-2 – Washington 

R.D., Resolution T-24-24.   
 

4. Transportation:  Approve North Main Resurfacing – Surface Transp. Block 
Grant, Resolution T-24-25.        

 
5. Transportation:  Approve Miller Road Widening & Resurfacing – Surface 

Transp. Block Grant, Resolution T-24-26.   
 

DRAFT
9



6. Land Use:  Approve Case No. 24-21-Z – Clayton Moushon - Rezoning – 
Fondulac Township, Resolution LU-24-10. 

 
7. Property:  Approve amendment to cleaning contract with Vonachen Services, 

Inc., Resolution P-24-16. 
 

8. Property:  Approve bid for a metal building at the Tremont campus, Resolution 
P-24-17.   
 

9. Property:  Approve bid for flooring at 1800 Broadway in Pekin, Resolution P-
24-18.  Upon approval of in-place meeting. 

 
10.  Finance:  Approve budget transfer for the County Clerk to cover cost of 

printing done by outside company, Resolution F-24-17.  
 

11.  Finance:  Approve outsourcing Vote-By-Mail to Knowink, Resolution F-24-23. 
 

12.  Finance:  Approve recognition of an increase in Animal Control’s budget for 
grant purposes, Resolution F-24-20.   

 
13.  Finance:  Approve recognition of an increase in EMA’s budget for grant, 

Resolution F-24-21.   
 

14.  Finance:  Approve annual purchase of network, computer, email, and 
endpoint security licensing, Resolution F-24-24. 

 
15.  Finance:  Approve budget transfers for Community Development, Resolution 

F-24-25.   
 

16.  Executive:  Approve six month review of Executive Session minutes by the 
State’s Attorney’s Office, Resolution E-24-54. 

 
17.  Executive:  Approve amendments to Chapter 95:  Food Establishments, 

Resolution E-24-73.   This item removed from the agenda. 
 

18.  Executive:  Approve referendum language regarding the office of the elected 
County Auditor, Resolution E-24-77. 

 
19.  Executive:  Approve precinct boundaries and polling location, Resolution E-

24-78. 

DRAFT
10



20.  Executive:  Approve the Energy Transition Grant – Phase II Submittal, 
Resolution E-24-79. 

 
21.  Executive:  Approve Decommissioning Agreement for Green Valley 

Renewables, LLC, Resolution E-24-80. 
 

22.  Executive:  Approve emergency declaration for Townline Bridge over Prairie 
Creek, Resolution E-24-81.  Upon approval of in-place meeting. 

 
23.  Executive:  Approve internet service agreement with Stratus Networks, 

Resolution E-24-82.  Upon approval of in-place meeting. 
 

24.  Executive:  Approve internet service agreement with i3 Broadband, LLC, 
Resolution E-24-83.  Upon approval of in-place meeting. 

 
25.  Executive:  Approve fully managed IT service agreement with Heart 

Technologies, Inc., Resolution E-24-84.  Upon approval of in-place meeting. 

Member Rich-Stimson moved to approve the Consent Agenda items as outlined in the 
Agenda packet; seconded by Member Nelms.  The Consent Agenda was approved by 
voice vote of 19 Yeas; 0 Nays. 
 
The following items were removed from the Consent Agenda for further discussion. 

Item 9 Property:  Member Crawford motioned to approve as amended the bid for 
flooring at 1800 Broadway in Pekin; seconded by Member Mingus.  Motion passed by 
voice vote of 19 Yeas; 0 Nays.  Resolution P-24-18 was passed by the County Board. 

Item 18 Executive:  Member Sinn asked if the current auditor would like to comment on 
this proposed referendum.  Tazewell County Auditor Brett Grimm spoke on his 
opposition to the proposed referendum.  He spoke on the qualifications for candidate 
Funkhouser.  Member Mingus stated he supported action to allow the voters to decide 
the auditor position.  Member Schneider indicated he would not be supporting the 
resolution.  Member Crawford spoke on the 2018 referendum vote regarding the auditor 
and stated he would not be supporting the proposed referendum.  Member Proehl said 
she would not be supporting this resolution.  Chairman Zimmerman indicated Mr. 
Funkhouser was a very qualified individual, but the board needs to look at the position 
not the candidate.  He mentioned how several counties have already eliminated the 
auditor position or have on this year’s ballot a referendum to eliminate the position. 

Motion to approve referendum language regarding the office of the elected County 
Auditor failed by roll vote of 4 Yeas; 15 Nays – Atkins, Crawford, Deppert, Sam 

DRAFT
11



Goodard, Graff, Hall, Hopkins, Longfellow, Menold, Nelms, Paget, Proehl, Schmidgall, 
Schneider, Sinn.   

Item 22 Executive:  Member Hopkins motioned to approve emergency declaration for 
the Townline Bridge over Prairie Creek; seconded by Member Proehl.  Motion passed 
by voice vote of 19 Yeas; 0 Nays.  Resolution E-24-81 was passed by the County 
Board. 

Item 23 Executive:  Member Hall motioned to approve internet service agreement with 
Stratus Networks; seconded by Member Longfellow.  Motion passed by voice vote of 19 
Yeas; 0 Nays.  Resolution E-24-82 was passed by the County Board. 

Item 24 Executive:  Member Nelms motioned to approve internet service agreements 
with i3 Broadband, LLC; seconded by Member Atkins.  Motion passed by voice vote of 
19 Yeas; 0 Nays.  Resolution E-24-83 was passed by the County Board. 

Item 25 Executive: Member Graff indicated the approval of this agenda item will 
involve personnel matters for the county.  

Member Atkins motioned to enter into Executive Session pursuant to Section 2 (c) 1 the 
appointment, employment, compensation, discipline, performance, or dismissal of 
specific employees of the public body or legal counsel for the public body, including 
hearing testimony on a complaint lodged against an employee of the public body or 
against legal counsel for the public body to determine is validity; seconded by Member 
Hall.  Motion to enter into Executive Session passed by voice vote of 19 Yeas; 0 Nays. 

The Tazewell County Board entered into executive session at 8:11 PM and ended at 
8:29 PM. 

The Tazewell County board returned to open session at 8:29 PM. 

Member Hall motioned to approve fully managed IT service agreement with Heart 
Technologies, Inc.; seconded by Member Atkins.  Motion passed by voice vote of 19 
Yeas; 0 Nays.  Resolution E-24-84 passed the county board. 

APPOINTMENTS/REAPPOINTMENTS 

Member Atkins moved to Reappoint Dr. Steven Dickey to the Board of Health; 
seconded by Member Deppert.  Resolution E-24-69 was approved by voice vote of 19 
Yeas; 0 Nays. 

Member Atkins moved to Reappoint Bobbi Mullis to the Board of Health; seconded by 
Member Deppert.  Resolution E-24-70 was approved by voice vote of 19 Yeas; 0 Nays. 

DRAFT
12



Member Atkins moved to Reappoint Gary Burton to Board of Health; seconded by 
Member Deppert.  Resolution E-24-71 was approved by voice vote of 19 Yeas; 0 Nays. 

Member Atkins moved to Appoint Eric Schmidgall to the Tazewell Woodford Youth 
Services; seconded by Member Deppert.  Resolution E-24-74 was approved by voice 
vote of 18 Yeas; 0 Nays; 1 Abstention - Schmidgall. 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

County Clerk John C. Ackerman thanked the board for the approval of the Knowink – 
vote by mail contract that passed earlier in the meeting. 

NEW BUSINESS 

It was determined the board had no new business at this time. 

REVIEW OF APPROVED BILLS 

Board Members reviewed the approved bills as presented. 

APPROVE THE JULY 2024 CALENDAR 

Member Nelms moved to approve the July 2024 calendar; seconded by Member 
Joesting.  Motion to approve the July 2024 calendar was approved by voice vote of 19 
Yeas; 0 Nays. 

ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business before the Board, Chairman Zimmerman announced 
the meeting adjourned.  The Tazewell County Board Meeting adjourned at 8:32 PM.  
The next scheduled County Board meeting will be July 31, 2024. 

 

DRAFT
13



COMMITTEE   REPORT 

Mr. Chairman and Members of Tazewell County Board: 

Your Transportation Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and recommends that it be 
adopted by the Board. 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

R E S O L U T I O N 

WHEREAS, embankment stability has become a chronic issue along the north side of 
Toboggan Avenue just east of the Brownwood Road intersection necessitating an 
agreement for engineering services; and  

WHEREAS, resolution T-23-02 was approved by the County Board on the 25th day of January, 2023 
approving a LOCAL PUBLIC AGENCY ENGINEERING SERVICES AGREEMENT (BLR 05530); 
and 

WHEREAS, resolution T-24-06 was approved by the County Board on the 28th day of February, 2024 
approving a SUPPLEMENT NUMBER 1 - LOCAL PUBLIC AGENCY ENGINEERING SERVICES 
AGREEMENT (BLR 05530); and 

WHEREAS, the scope to said approved agreement has been expanded to include stream protection near the 
slide area on the north side of Toboggan Avenue; and 

WHEREAS, proposed improvement remains necessary under Section 22-00026-00-DR necessitating a 
second supplement agreement for engineering services; and 

WHEREAS, an attached SUPPLEMENT NUMBER 2 - LOCAL PUBLIC AGENCY ENGINEERING 
SERVICES AGREEMENT (BLR 05530) has been developed between Tazewell County and Maurer-Stutz, 
Inc. for Phase II Design Engineering services; and 

WHEREAS, the County Engineer and the Transportation Committee have reviewed the attached agreement 
between Tazewell County and Maurer-Stutz, Inc.; and 

WHEREAS, motion was made and passed upon vote to recommend to the County Board that Tazewell 
County approve said SUPPLEMENT NUMBER 2 - LOCAL PUBLIC AGENCY ENGINEERING 
SERVICES AGREEMENT and authorize the County Board Chairman to sign said agreement; 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the County Board approve this recommendation, and that the 
County Clerk notify the County Board Chairman, Chairman of the Transportation Committee, and County 
Engineer of this action as well as submit four (4) certified signed originals of the approved resolution to the

Illinois Department of Transportation as notification of this action. 

ADOPTED this 31st day of July, 2024 

ATTEST: 

______________________________________    _____________________________________ 

County Clerk             County Board Chairman 

T-24-27

14



15



Local Public Agency 

Engineering Services Agreement 

BLR 05530 (Rev. 07/08/22)Page 1 of 9Completed06/14/24

Using Federal Funds? Yes No

Agreement For

MFT PE

Agreement Type

Supplement

Number

2

LOCAL PUBLIC AGENCY

Local Public Agency

Tazewell County

County

Tazewell

Section Number

22-00026-00-DR

Job Number

Project Number Contact Name

Dan L. Parr

Phone Number

(309) 925-5532

Email 

dparr@tazewell-il.gov

SECTION PROVISIONS

Local Street/Road Name

Toboggan Avenue

LengthKey Route

CH 14

Add Location

Structure Number

Remove Location

Location Termini

Toboggan Avenue, approximately 0.8 miles west of I-155

Project Description

Complete Supplemental Design Engineering for the Toboggan Avenue Embankment Stability on CH 14 

(Toboggan Avenue) approximately 0.8 miles west of I-155 in Tazewell County

Engineering Funding

Anticipated Construction Funding

MFT/TBP State Other

OtherStateMFT/TBPFederal

AGREEMENT FOR

Phase II - Design Engineering Phase I - Preliminary Engineering

CONSULTANT

Prime Consultant (Firm) Name

Maurer-Stutz, Inc.

Contact Name

Jeffry D. Spiller

Phone Number

(309) 693-7615

Address

3116 N. Dries Ln; Ste. 100

City

Peoria

State

IL

Zip Code

61604

Email 

jdspiller@mstutz.com

THIS AGREEMENT IS MADE between the above Local Public Agency (LPA) and Consultant (ENGINEER) and covers certain 

professional engineering services in connection with the improvement of the above SECTION. Project funding allotted to the LPA by the 

State of Illinois under the general supervision of the State Department of Transportation, hereinafter called the "DEPARTMENT," will be 

used entirely or in part to finance ENGINEERING services as described under AGREEMENT PROVISIONS. 

Since the services contemplated under the AGREEMENT are professional in nature, it is understood that the ENGINEER, acting as an 

individual, partnership, firm or legal entity, qualifies for professional status and will be governed by professional ethics in its relationship to 

the LPA and the DEPARTMENT. The LPA acknowledges the professional and ethical status of the ENGINEER by entering into an 

AGREEMENT on the basis of its qualifications and experience and determining its compensation by mutually satisfactory negotiations. 

WHEREVER IN THIS AGREEMENT or attached exhibits the following terms are used, they shall be interpreted to mean: 

Regional Engineer  Deputy Director, Office of Highways Project Implementation, Regional Engineer, Department of 

Transportation 

Resident Construction Supervisor Authorized representative of the LPA in immediate charge of the engineering details of the 

construction PROJECT 

In Responsible Charge A full time LPA employee authorized to administer inherently governmental PROJECT activities  

Contractor  Company or Companies to which the construction contract was awarded

16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



BLR 09110 (Rev. 01/18/23)

Resolution for Improvement 

Under the Illinois Highway Code

Page 1 of 1Printed 07/03/24

Resolution Type

Amended

Resolution Number

T-24-28

Section Number

22-00026-00-DR

BE IT RESOLVED, by the
Governing Body Type

Board of the 
Local Public Agency Type

County

of 

Name of Local Public Agency

Tazewell County Illinois that the following described street(s)/road(s)/structure be improved under

the Illinois Highway Code. Work shall be done by
Contract or Day Labor

Contract .

NoYes

Is this project a bondable capital improvement?

For Roadway/Street Improvements:

Name of Street(s)/Road(s)
Length  
(miles)

Route From To

Toboggan Ave 0.25 FAS 462/CH 14 TR 186 (Brownwood Rd) 0.25 Mi East

For Structures:

Name of Street(s)/Road(s)
Existing 

Structure No.
Route Location Feature Crossed

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED,

1. That the proposed improvement shall consist of

The engineering design for Embankment Stability.

2. That there is hereby appropriated the sum of  Sixty Five Thousand and 00/100

 $65,000.00 Dollars ( ) for the improvement of

said section from the Local Public Agency's allotment of Motor Fuel Tax funds. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk is hereby directed to transmit four (4) certified originals of this resolution to the district office  

of the Department of Transportation.

I,
Name of Clerk

John C. Ackerman
Local Public Agency Type

County Clerk in and for said
Local Public Agency Type

County

of
Name of Local Public Agency

Tazewell County  in the State aforesaid, and keeper of the records and files thereof, as provided by 

statute, do hereby certify the foregoing to be a true, perfect and complete original of a resolution adopted by 

Governing Body Type

Board of
Name of Local Public Agency

Tazewell County at a meeting held on
Date

July 31, 2024

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal this 
Day

day of 
Month, Year

.

.

(SEAL, if required by the LPA) Clerk Signature & Date

Approved

Regional Engineer Signature & Date 
Department of Transportation

32



COMMITTEE   REPORT 

Mr. Chairman and Members of Tazewell County Board: 

Your Transportation Committee has considered the attached RESOLUTION and 
recommends that it be adopted by the Board. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

R E S O L U T I O N 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the County Clerk notify the County Board 
Chairman, Chairman of the Transportation Committee and County Engineer of this 
action as well as submit three (3) certified signed originals of the approved resolution to 
the Illinois Department of Transportation as notification of this action. 

ADOPTED THIS 31st DAY OF JULY, 2024 

ATTEST: 

_________________________________     __________________________________ 
TAZEWELL COUNTY CLERK            TAZEWELL COUNTY BOARD CHAIRMAN 

T-24-28 (page 2 of 2)

33



COMMITTEE   REPORT 

Mr. Chairman and Members of Tazewell County Board: 

Your Transportation Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and recommends that it be 
adopted by the Board. 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

R E S O L U T I O N 

WHEREAS, the Constitution of the State of Illinois, 1970, Article VII, Section 10, authorizes units 
of local government to contract or otherwise associate among themselves in any manner not 
prohibited by law or ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the “Intergovernmental Cooperation Act”, 5 ILCS 220/1 et seq., provides that any 
power or powers, privileges or authority exercised or which may be exercised by a unit of local 
government may be exercised and enjoyed jointly with any other unit of local government; and 

WHEREAS, Section 5 of the “Intergovernmental Cooperation Act”, 5 ILCS 220/5, provides that 
any one or more public agencies may contract with any one or more public agencies to perform any 
governmental service, activity or undertaking which any of the public agencies entering into the 
contract is authorized by law to perform, provided that such contract shall be authorized by the 
governing body of each party to the contract; and 

WHEREAS, the County Board Chairman and the County Board of Tazewell County, Illinois have 
determined that it is in the best interests of Tazewell County and its residents to enter into the 
attached INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT.; and 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of Tazewell County, Illinois that the 
Chairman of the Tazewell County Board be hereby authorized to execute the 
INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT and sign under ADDENDUM “A” of the 
INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT, a copy of said Agreement being attached hereto and 
being made a part hereof. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notify the County Board Chairman, 
Chairman of the Transportation Committee, the County Engineer, and the Menard County Engineer 
of this action. 

ADOPTED this 31st day of July, 2024 

ATTEST: 

______________________________________    _____________________________________ 

County Clerk             County Board Chairman 

T-24-29

34



35



36



37



27 June

38



39



40



ADDITIONAL GOVERNMENTAL UNIT SIGNATURE PAGE 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the below-referenced Party, pursuant to proper and 

necessary authorization, has executed this Agreement and shall constitute an additional Party 
to this Agreement.   
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED this _31st_ day of  July , 2024. 
 
 
Menard County    Attest: 
 
 
_____________________________  ______________________ 
Chairman, Board of Commissioners  County Clerk 
 
 
Tazewell County    Attest: 
 
 
 
_____________________________  _______________________ 
County Board Chairman    County Clerk 
 

41



TAZEWELL COUNTY LAND USE COMMITTEE 
SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE AGENDA 

JULY 9TH, 2024 Meeting 
TO BE PRESENTED TO THE TAZEWELL COUNTY BOARD ON 

JULY 31ST, 2024 

LU-24-11 
CASE NO. 24-25-S The petition of Hawk Attollo, LLC for a Special Use to allow the operation of a 3.5 MW 

Commercial Solar Farm (originally approved as a 5 Mega Watt project on 11/2/2022 in 
Case No. 22-47-S, expired 11/2/2032) in an A-1 Agriculture Preservation District 

ZBA recommended approval with conditions. 
 (6 – Aye, 0- Nay and 1-Absent) 

Land Use concurred.  
(4 - Aye, 1 - Nay and 2 – Absent) 

LU-24-12 
CASE NO. 24-26-S The petition of Fast Ave. Solar, LLC for a Special Use to allow the operation of a 5 MW 

Commercial Solar Farm (originally approved as a part of Case No. 18-33-S which included 
three 2MW solar projects on 8/7/2018 and extension approved 9/1/2022 for one year) in 
an A-1 Agriculture Preservation District 

ZBA recommended approval, with conditions. 
(6 – Aye, 0- Nay and 1-Absent) 

Land Use concurred. 
(4 - Aye, 1 - Nay and 2 – Absent) 

42



COMMITTEE REPORT   
LU-24-11 

(ZBA Case No. 24-25-S) 
 

Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board:  
  
Your Land Use Committee does hereby recommend approval of the following resolution:  
 
   RE: Approval of Special Use Petition of Hawk Attollo, LLC.   
  
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------   

R  E  S  O  L  U  T  I  O N  
  

WHEREAS, the County of Tazewell has enacted Title XV, Chapter 157, Zoning (As adopted January 1, 1998) 
of the Tazewell County Code; and  
  
WHEREAS, said ordinance requires a Special Use for a Commercial Solar Energy Facility in the “A-1” 
Agriculture Preservation District; and   
  
WHEREAS, a public hearing on said Special Use was held before the Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA) on July 
2, 2024 in Case No. 24-25-S; and 
  
WHEREAS, the ZBA deliberated its decision on July 2, 2024 and voted to recommend approval of the Special 
Use with condition(s).  A copy of the Report, which include said conditions, a finding of fact, accompanied by 
maps of the subject property, are attached; and  
 
WHEREAS, your Land Use Committee met on July 9, 2024 to consider: the application, report of the ZBA, the 
recommendation of the Community Development Administrator and Land Use Planner. 
 
WHEREAS, your Land Use Committee voted to recommend approval of the Special Use with condition(s) and 
adopting the findings of fact of the ZBA; and  
 
WHEREAS, the County Board has reviewed; the report of the ZBA, the recommendation of the Land Use 
Committee, and the recommendation of Community Development Administrator and Land Use planner; and  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the County Board APPROVE this resolution and the petitioner’s 
request for Special Use Case. No. 24-25-S with the finding of fact as provided by the ZBA/Land Use 
Committee with conditions. 
  
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notify Jaclynn Workman, Community Development 
Administrator of this action; 
  
 Adopted this            day of         , 2024.  
  

                          

 ATTEST:          Tazewell County Board Chairman  

  

           
Tazewell County Clerk     

43



LU-24-11 

1 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE 
UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF TITLE XV, 

CHAPTER 157, ZONING CODE OF TAZEWELL COUNTY 
ON PETITION OF HAWK-ATTOLLO, LLC 

 
(Zoning Board Case No. 24-25-S) 

 
WHEREAS, a petition has been filed with the County Clerk of Tazewell County, Illinois, by 

Hawk-Attollo, LLC for a Special Use to allow the construction of a 3.5 Mega Watt Commercial Solar 

Farm (originally approved as a 5 Mega Watt project under Case No. 22-47-S on November 2, 2022) 

in an A-1 Agriculture Preservation District; and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing on said application designated as Zoning Board Case No. 24-

25-S was held by the Tazewell County Zoning Board of Appeals on July 2, 2024, following due 

publication of notice of said hearing in accordance with law, and the said Zoning Board of Appeals 

thereafter made a report to the County Board recommending approval with the following conditions 

1. The fence style shall be chain-link with steel post, in accordance with the height 

requirements of § 156.06 (B)(1)(f). 

2. The Facility Owner shall ensure that all vegetation growing within the perimeter of the Facility 

and all land outside of the perimeter fence identified in the agreement as a part of the lease 

is properly and appropriately maintained. Maintenance may include, but not be limited to, 

mowing, trimming, chemical control, or the use of livestock as agreed to by the Landowner. 

3. Emergency and non-emergency contact information shall be kept up to date with the 

Community Development Department and be posted in a conspicuous manner at the main 

entrance to the facility and also visible from the public roadway.  

4. Vegetative screening, such as a species of pine tree, shall be 3-5’ at planting as proposed in 

the application and in any other location as determined desirable by the Community 

Development Administrator.  

5. Cover crop, such as wheat or rye, shall be established prior to construction to prevent 

sediment and erosion control issues during the construction phase. 

6. Decommissioning Plan compliant with the current standards of the Tazewell County Solar 

Energy Ordinance. 

44



LU-24-11 

2 
 

; and   

WHEREAS, said report of the Zoning Board of Appeals contained the following findings of 

fact: 

1. The Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the 

Tazewell County Zoning Ordinance for the district in which it is located.  

(Positive) The construction of a solar farm is permitted special use within an A-1 Agricultural 

District. Therefore the proposed special use conforms to Tazewell County Code.      

2. The Special Use will be consistent with the purposes, goals, objectives, and standards of the 

officially adopted County Comprehensive Land Use Plan and these regulations, or of any 

officially adopted Comprehensive Plan of a municipality with a 1.5 mile planning jurisdiction.  

(POSITIVE) The area identified for special use is within the Malone Township. The proposed 

special use does not contradict any of the purposes, goals, objectives, or standards of the 

Tazewell County Comprehensive Plan. Therefore, this finding is judged to be positive. 

3. The petitioner has met the requirements of Article 25 of the Tazewell County Zoning Code.  

(POSITIVE) Per the application, the requirements of Article 25 of the Tazewell County 

Zoning Code have been met. 

4. The Site shall be so situated as to minimize adverse effects, including visual impacts on 

adjacent properties.  

(POSITIVE) To minimize any adverse effects or visual impacts the applicant will have the 

site fenced and provide a vegetative  buffer for nearby residents. 

5. The establishment, maintenance or operation of the Special Use shall not be detrimental to 

or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare of the neighboring 

vicinity.  

(POSITIVE) According to the site plan, the layout of the solar panels will exceed the 150 ft 

buffer from non-participating residents. The plan also includes a vegetative  buffer with a 

150 ft buffer from residents and a fence to enclose the entire project area. 

6. The Special Use shall not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted. 

45



LU-24-11 

3 
 

(POSITIVE) The proposed special use will include safety features such as fence 

surrounding the project area to limit access onto the property and a vegetative  buffer to 

mitigate any visual impacts to the nearby residents. Solar panels located near residents will 

have a setback that exceeds the required 150 ft buffer from non-participating residents. 

7. The Special Use shall not substantially diminish and impair property values within the 

neighborhood.  

(POSITIVE) There is no evidence that consistently guarantees that the development of a 

solar farm will diminish property values for there are studies that support and refute this 

claim. But efforts are being made to mitigate any impacts to property values such as 

following Tazewell County Zoning Code, putting a fence, exceeding the mandated setback 

from non-participating residents, utilizing vegetative  screening.     

8. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and other necessary facilities have been or 

are being provided.  

(POSITIVE) Per the applicant all necessary utilities will be provided. 

9. Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 

as to minimize traffic congestion and hazard on the public streets.  

(POSITIVE) The traffic that will be generated from this project will only occur during the 

construction phase and annual maintenance. 

10. The evidence establishes that granting the use, which is located one-half mile or less from a 

livestock feeding operation, will not increase the population density around the livestock 

feeding operation to such levels as would hinder the operation or expansion of such 

operation.  

Not Applicable   

11. Evidence presented establishes that granting the use, which is located more than one-half 

mile from a livestock feeding operation, will not hinder the operation or expansion of such 

operation.  

Not Applicable 

12. Seventy-five percent (75%) of the site contains soils having a productivity index of less than 

46



LU-24-11 

4 
 

125.  

(Positive) The proposed site contains some soil that is prime for agriculture, but the solar 

farm will only use 25 acres of the property. The remaining 56 acres can still be used for 

agriculture and after the life of the solar project the land can be reverted for agriculture use, 

per the applicant’s agricultural impact mitigation agreement (AIMA). 

13. The Special Use is consistent with the existing uses of property within the general area of 

the property in question.  

(POSITIVE) The surrounding properties are zoned A-1 which allows the construction of a 

commercial solar farm as a special use. Therefore, a commercial solar farm is consistent 

with the existing uses of the property. 

14. The property is suitable for the Special Use as proposed.  

(Positive) The proposed site is zoned A-1 where building a commercial solar farm is a 

permitted special use. Therefore, the proposed property is suitable for the proposed special 

use. 

which findings of fact are hereby  ADOPTED  by the County Board as the reason for 

 APPROVING    the Special Use request, with conditions. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNTY BOARD OF TAZEWELL 

COUNTY, ILLINOIS: 

SECTION I. The petition of Hawk-Attollo, LLC for a Special Use to allow the construction 

of a 3.5 Mega Watt Commercial Solar Farm (originally approved as a 5 Mega Watt project under 

Case No. 22-47-S on November 2, 2022) in an A-1 Agriculture Preservation District on the following 

described property:  

Current Owner of Property:  EC-SPNC Jibben Farms, LLC, 3713 Sheridan Rd., 

Pekin, IL  

P.I.N. 20-20-05-200-003; an approximate 25 +/- acres utilized of an existing 81 acre 

parcel located in part of the E ½ of the NE ¼ of Sec 5, T22N, R5W of the 3rd P.M., 

Malone Twp., Tazewell Co., IL; 

 located in a field immediately S and adjacent to 13127 Hilst Rd., Green Valley, IL. 

47



LU-24-11 

5 
 

is hereby granted, with conditions. 

SECTION II.  The Community Development Administrator of Tazewell County is hereby 

authorized and directed to issue any permit for said Special Use. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this                day of                            , 2024. 

 
 

Ayes    Nays    Absent   
 
 
 
       
Chairman 
Tazewell County Board 

ATTEST: 
 
          
County Clerk 
Tazewell County, Illinois  

48



 1 

DECISION AND FINDINGS OF FACT 
OF THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

ON PROPOSED SPECIAL USE 
 

 (Zoning Board Case No. 24-25-S) 
 
The Zoning Board of Appeals of Tazewell County, Illinois makes the following report of its action on 
the case indicated herein, after a public hearing on July 2, 2024, and pursuant to notice given in 
accordance with law: 
 

A.  DESCRIPTION OF CASE 
 
SUBJECT MATTER: Special Use 
 
LOCATION AND/OR PROPERTY INVOLVED: 
 

Current Owner of Property:  EC-SPNC Jibben Farms, LLC, 3713 Sheridan Rd., 
Pekin, IL  

 
P.I.N. 20-20-05-200-003; an approximate 25 +/- acres utilized of an existing 81 acre 
parcel located in part of the E ½ of the NE ¼ of Sec 5, T22N, R5W of the 3rd P.M., 
Malone Twp., Tazewell Co., IL; 

 
 located in a field immediately S and adjacent to 13127 Hilst Rd., Green Valley, IL. 
 
REQUESTED BY: Hawk-Attollo, LLC 
 
PROPOSAL: The petition of Hawk-Attollo, LLC for a Special Use to allow the construction of a 3.5 

Mega Watt Commercial Solar Farm (originally approved as a 5 Mega Watt project 
11/2/2022 in Case No. 22-47-S) in an A-1 Agriculture Preservation District 

 
PARTIES OF RECORD: Seth Uphoff, Attorney on behalf of Petitioner 
    Jason Hawksworth, Hawk-Attollo, LLC, Petitioner 
                   

B. JURISDICTION 
 
NOTICE OF HEARING: A notice of the proposed Special Use thereon was published in the 

Tazewell Chronicle on May 29, 2024 and a copy of the publication 
was mailed to the petitioner within five working days after publication. 

 
AGENCY COMMENTS:    The Tazewell County Land Use Planner submitted a report 

recommending approval of the proposed Special Use request. 
 

Tazewell County Health Department submitted a report regarding the 
proposed Special Use request stating portable toilets and portable 
handwashing stations must be provided during construction. 
 
Tazewell County Soil & Water Conservation District submitted a 
report regarding the proposed Special Use request recommending 
denial. 
 
Tazewell County Farm Bureau made no comment regarding the 
proposed Special Use request. 
 
Dan Parr, Tazewell County Highway Engineer made no comment 
regarding the proposed Special Use request. 

49



 2 

 
Eric Hoeft, Malone Township Road District made no comment 
regarding the proposed Special Use request. 
 

C. FINDINGS OF FACTS 
 
The Zoning Board of Appeals adopted the following findings of fact relating to the action proposed: 
 
1. The Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the 

Tazewell County Zoning Ordinance for the district in which it is located.  
 
(Positive) The construction of a solar farm is permitted special use within an A-1 Agricultural 
District. Therefore the proposed special use conforms to Tazewell County Code.      
 

2. The Special Use will be consistent with the purposes, goals, objectives, and standards of the 
officially adopted County Comprehensive Land Use Plan and these regulations, or of any 
officially adopted Comprehensive Plan of a municipality with a 1.5 mile planning jurisdiction.  
 
(POSITIVE) The area identified for special use is within the Malone Township. The proposed 
special use does not contradict any of the purposes, goals, objectives, or standards of the 
Tazewell County Comprehensive Plan. Therefore, this finding is judged to be positive. 

3. The petitioner has met the requirements of Article 25 of the Tazewell County Zoning Code.  
 
(POSITIVE) Per the application, the requirements of Article 25 of the Tazewell County 
Zoning Code have been met. 

4. The Site shall be so situated as to minimize adverse effects, including visual impacts on 
adjacent properties.  
 
(POSITIVE) To minimize any adverse effects or visual impacts the applicant will have the 
site fenced and provide a vegetative  buffer for nearby residents. 
 

5. The establishment, maintenance or operation of the Special Use shall not be detrimental to 
or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare of the neighboring 
vicinity.  
 
(POSITIVE) According to the site plan, the layout of the solar panels will exceed the 150 ft 
buffer from non-participating residents. The plan also includes a vegetative  buffer with a 
150 ft buffer from residents and a fence to enclose the entire project area. 
 

6. The Special Use shall not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted. 
 
(POSITIVE) The proposed special use will include safety features such as fence 
surrounding the project area to limit access onto the property and a vegetative  buffer to 
mitigate any visual impacts to the nearby residents. Solar panels located near residents will 
have a setback that exceeds the required 150 ft buffer from non-participating residents. 
 

7. The Special Use shall not substantially diminish and impair property values within the 
neighborhood.  
 
(POSITIVE) There is no evidence that consistently guarantees that the development of a 
solar farm will diminish property values for there are studies that support and refute this 
claim. But efforts are being made to mitigate any impacts to property values such as 
following Tazewell County Zoning Code, putting a fence, exceeding the mandated setback 

50



 3 

from non-participating residents, utilizing vegetative  screening.     
 

8. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and other necessary facilities have been or 
are being provided.  
 
(POSITIVE) Per the applicant all necessary utilities will be provided. 
 

9. Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 
as to minimize traffic congestion and hazard on the public streets.  
 
(POSITIVE) The traffic that will be generated from this project will only occur during the 
construction phase and annual maintenance. 
 

10. The evidence establishes that granting the use, which is located one-half mile or less from a 
livestock feeding operation, will not increase the population density around the livestock 
feeding operation to such levels as would hinder the operation or expansion of such 
operation.  
 
Not Applicable 

         
11. Evidence presented establishes that granting the use, which is located more than one-half 

mile from a livestock feeding operation, will not hinder the operation or expansion of such 
operation.  
 
Not Applicable 
 

12. Seventy-five percent (75%) of the site contains soils having a productivity index of less than 
125.  
 
(Positive) The proposed site contains some soil that is prime for agriculture, but the solar 
farm will only use 25 acres of the property. The remaining 56 acres can still be used for 
agriculture and after the life of the solar project the land can be reverted for agriculture use, 
per the applicant’s agricultural impact mitigation agreement (AIMA). 
 

13. The Special Use is consistent with the existing uses of property within the general area of 
the property in question.  
 
(POSITIVE) The surrounding properties are zoned A-1 which allows the construction of a 
commercial solar farm as a special use. Therefore, a commercial solar farm is consistent 
with the existing uses of the property. 
 

14. The property is suitable for the Special Use as proposed.  
 
(Positive) The proposed site is zoned A-1 where building a commercial solar farm is a 
permitted special use. Therefore, the proposed property is suitable for the proposed special 
use. 

 
D.  DECISION 

 
Having considered the information contained in the petition herein, and the testimony given and 
statements made at the public hearing on said proposal, the Zoning Board of Appeals hereby, 
based on the findings of fact set forth above, recommends approval of the proposed Special Use 
request with the following conditions: 
 
1. The fence style shall be chain-link with steel post, in accordance with the height 

requirements of § 156.06 (B)(1)(f). 

51



 4 

 
2. The Facility Owner shall ensure that all vegetation growing within the perimeter of the Facility 

and all land outside of the perimeter fence identified in the agreement as a part of the lease 
is properly and appropriately maintained. Maintenance may include, but not be limited to, 
mowing, trimming, chemical control, or the use of livestock as agreed to by the Landowner. 

 
3. Emergency and non-emergency contact information shall be kept up to date with the 

Community Development Department and be posted in a conspicuous manner at the main 
entrance to the facility and also visible from the public roadway.  

 
4. Vegetative screening, such as a species of pine tree, shall be 3-5’ at planting as proposed in 

the application and in any other location as determined desirable by the Community 
Development Administrator.  

 
5. Cover crop, such as wheat or rye, shall be established prior to construction to prevent 

sediment and erosion control issues during the construction phase. 
 
6. Decommissioning Plan compliant with the current standards of the Tazewell County Solar 

Energy Ordinance. 
 
Ayes:   6 –Bong, Cupi, Fehr, Lapsley, McClanahan and Chairman Lessen 
Nays:     0 
Absent: 1 – Vaughn 
 
Dated this 2nd day of July, 2024. 

/s/ DUANE LESSEN                      
Chairman, Zoning Board of Appeals 
Tazewell County, Illinois 

52



53



54



55



56



57



COMMITTEE REPORT   
LU-24-12 

(ZBA Case No. 24-26-S) 
 

Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board:  
  
Your Land Use Committee does hereby recommend approval of the following resolution:  
 
   RE: Approval of Special Use Petition of Fast Ave. Solar, LLC.   
  
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------   

R  E  S  O  L  U  T  I  O N  
  

WHEREAS, the County of Tazewell has enacted Title XV, Chapter 157, Zoning (As adopted January 1, 1998) 
of the Tazewell County Code; and  
  
WHEREAS, said ordinance requires a Special Use for a Commercial Solar Energy Facility in the “A-1” 
Agriculture Preservation District; and   
  
WHEREAS, a public hearing on said Special Use was held before the Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA) on July 
2, 2024 in Case No. 24-26-S; and 
  
WHEREAS, the ZBA deliberated its decision on July 2, 2024 and voted to recommend approval of the Special 
Use with condition(s).  A copy of the Report, which include said conditions, a finding of fact, accompanied by 
maps of the subject property, are attached; and  
 
WHEREAS, your Land Use Committee met on July 9, 2024 to consider: the application, report of the ZBA, the 
recommendation of the Community Development Administrator and Land Use Planner. 
 
WHEREAS, your Land Use Committee voted to recommend approval of the Special Use with condition(s) and 
adopting the findings of fact of the ZBA; and  
 
WHEREAS, the County Board has reviewed; the report of the ZBA, the recommendation of the Land Use 
Committee, and the recommendation of Community Development Administrator and Land Use planner; and  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the County Board APPROVE this resolution and the petitioner’s 
request for Special Use Case. No. 24-26-S with the finding of fact as provided by the ZBA/Land Use 
Committee with conditions. 
  
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notify Jaclynn Workman, Community Development 
Administrator of this action; 
  
 Adopted this            day of         , 2024.  
  

                          

 ATTEST:          Tazewell County Board Chairman  

  

           
Tazewell County Clerk     

58



LU-24-12 

1 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE 
UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF TITLE XV, 

CHAPTER 157, ZONING CODE OF TAZEWELL COUNTY 
ON PETITION OF FAST AVE SOLAR, LLC 

 
(Zoning Board Case No. 24-26-S) 

 
WHEREAS, a petition has been filed with the County Clerk of Tazewell County, Illinois, by 

Fast Ave. Solar, LLC for a Special Use to allow the construction of a 5 Mega Watt Commercial Solar 

Farm (originally a part of Case No. 18-33-S on 8/7/2018 and extended 9/1/2020) in an A-1 

Agriculture Preservation District; and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing on said application designated as Zoning Board Case No. 24-

26-S was held by the Tazewell County Zoning Board of Appeals on July 2, 2024, following due 

publication of notice of said hearing in accordance with law, and the said Zoning Board of Appeals 

thereafter made a report to the County Board recommending approval with the following conditions: 

1. The fence style shall be chain-link with steel post, in accordance with the height 

requirements of § 156.06 (B)(1)(f). 

2. The Facility Owner shall ensure that all vegetation growing within the perimeter of the Facility 

and all land outside of the perimeter fence identified in the agreement as a part of the lease 

is properly and appropriately maintained. Maintenance may include, but not be limited to, 

mowing, trimming, chemical control, or the use of livestock as agreed to by the Landowner. 

3. Emergency and non-emergency contact information shall be kept up to date with the 

Community Development Department and be posted in a conspicuous manner at the main 

entrance to the facility and also visible from the public roadway.  

4. Vegetative screening, as proposed in the application and in any other location as determined 

desirable by the Community Development Administrator.  

5. Cover crop, such as wheat or rye, shall be established prior to construction to prevent 

sediment and erosion control issues during the construction phase. 

6. Decommissioning Plan compliant with the current standards of the Tazewell County Solar 

Energy Ordinance. 

; and   

59



LU-24-12 

2 
 

WHEREAS, said report of the Zoning Board of Appeals contained the following findings of 

fact: 

1. The Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the 

Tazewell County Zoning Ordinance for the district in which it is located.  

(Positive) The construction of a solar farm is permitted special use within an A-1 Agricultural 

District. Therefore the proposed special use conforms to Tazewell County Code.      

2. The Special Use will be consistent with the purposes, goals, objectives, and standards of the 

officially adopted County Comprehensive Land Use Plan and these regulations, or of any 

officially adopted Comprehensive Plan of a municipality with a 1.5 mile planning jurisdiction.  

(POSITIVE) The area identified for special use is within the Malone Township. The proposed 

special use does not contradict any of the purposes, goals, objectives, or standards of the 

Tazewell County Comprehensive Plan. Therefore, this finding is judged to be positive. 

3. The petitioner has met the requirements of Article 25 of the Tazewell County Zoning Code.  

(POSITIVE) Per the application, the requirements of Article 25 of the Tazewell County 

Zoning Code have been met. 

4. The Site shall be so situated as to minimize adverse effects, including visual impacts on 

adjacent properties.  

(POSITIVE) The proposed special use will plant cedar trees for vegetative  screening and 

meets the required setbacks. These components of the site plan will mitigate any visual 

impacts to the adjacent properties.  

5. The establishment, maintenance or operation of the Special Use shall not be detrimental to 

or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare of the neighboring 

vicinity.  

(POSITIVE) To project the general welfare of the neighboring vicinity, the proposed special 

use will be secured by a 7ft fence to limit access, plant cedar trees for vegetative  screening, 

and meet the required setbacks set by Tazewell County. Per the applicant, the transformers 

will be located 720 ft away from the nearest residence to mitigate noise. 

6. The Special Use shall not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

60



LU-24-12 

3 
 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted. 

(POSITIVE) The proposed special use incorporates the following safety measures: a 7ft 

fence, vegetative  screening, and required setbacks. The incorporation of these measures 

help protect the enjoyment of the other properties in the immediate vicinity.   

7. The Special Use shall not substantially diminish and impair property values within the 

neighborhood.  

(POSITIVE) There is no evidence that consistently guarantees that the development of a 

solar farm will diminish property values for there are studies that support and refute this 

claim. But efforts are being made to mitigate any impacts to property values such as 

following Tazewell County Zoning Code, having 7ft fence surround the property, and 

meeting setback requirements.   

8. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and other necessary facilities have been or 

are being provided.  

(POSITIVE) Per the application, all utilities and necessary facilities will be provided. 

9. Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 

as to minimize traffic congestion and hazard on the public streets.  

(POSITIVE) The proposed special use will temporarily increase traffic during the 

construction phase. The proposed site can accommodate 40 personal vehicles and 5 

tractor-trailers. During construction there will be temporary on-site locations for truck staging. 

Any truck that is not off-loading will not be allowed to be idle for more than five minutes. After 

construction there will be little to no traffic to or from the site outside the occasional 

maintenance visit. 

10. The evidence establishes that granting the use, which is located one-half mile or less from a 

livestock feeding operation, will not increase the population density around the livestock 

feeding operation to such levels as would hinder the operation or expansion of such 

operation.  

Not Applicable    

11. Evidence presented establishes that granting the use, which is located more than one-half 

61



LU-24-12 

4 
 

mile from a livestock feeding operation, will not hinder the operation or expansion of such 

operation.  

Not Applicable 

12. Seventy-five percent (75%) of the site contains soils having a productivity index of less than 

125.  

(POSITIVE) The proposed site does contain prime soil. But only 28.5 acres of the 37.7-acre 

parcel will be used for the solar farm. The remaining 9.2 acres can still be used for 

agricultural uses. After the life of the project the land can be reverted to farmland, per the 

applicant’s Agricultural Impact Mitigation Agreement (AIMA). 

13. The Special Use is consistent with the existing uses of property within the general area of 

the property in question.  

(POSITIVE) The general area surrounding the property in question are mostly A-1 districts. 

These districts permitted the construction of a solar farm through special use.  Therefore, 

the proposed special use is consistent with the surrounding uses of property. 

14. The property is suitable for the Special Use as proposed.  

(POSITIVE) The property in question is currently zoned A-1, which permits the construction 

of a solar farm as a special use. Therefore, the property in question is suitable for the 

proposed special use.  

which findings of fact are hereby  ADOPTED  by the County Board as the reason for 

 APPROVING    the Special Use request, with conditions. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNTY BOARD OF TAZEWELL 

COUNTY, ILLINOIS: 

SECTION I. The petition of Fast Ave. Solar, LLC for a Special Use to allow the 

construction of a 5 Mega Watt Commercial Solar Farm (originally a part of Case No. 18-33-S on 

8/7/2018 and extended 9/1/2020) in an A-1 Agriculture Preservation District on the following 

described property:  

Current Owner of Property:  William J. Embry, LLC; PO Box 643, 30753 IL Rte. 9, 

Mackinaw, IL  61755 

62



LU-24-12 

5 
 

P.I.N. 13-13-14-400-004; an approximate  25.5 +/- acres utilized of an existing 37.67 

acre parcel located in part of the SE ¼ of the NE ¼ and part of the NE ¼ of the SE ¼ 

of Sec 14, T24N, R2W of the 3rd P.M., Mackinaw Twp., Tazewell Co., IL; 

 located in a field at the SW corner of the intersection of Fast Ave. and Lilly Rd., Mackinaw, 

IL. 

is hereby granted with conditions. 

SECTION II.  The Community Development Administrator of Tazewell County is hereby 

authorized and directed to issue any permit for said Special Use. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this                day of                            , 2024. 

 
 

Ayes    Nays    Absent   
 
 
 
       
Chairman 
Tazewell County Board 

ATTEST: 
 
          
County Clerk 
Tazewell County, Illinois  

63



 1 

DECISION AND FINDINGS OF FACT 
OF THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

ON PROPOSED SPECIAL USE 
 

 (Zoning Board Case No. 24-26-S) 
 
The Zoning Board of Appeals of Tazewell County, Illinois makes the following report of its action on 
the case indicated herein, after a public hearing on July 2, 2024, and pursuant to notice given in 
accordance with law: 
 

A.  DESCRIPTION OF CASE 
 
SUBJECT MATTER: Special Use 
 
LOCATION AND/OR PROPERTY INVOLVED: 
 

Current Owner of Property:  William J. Embry, LLC; PO Box 643, 30753 IL Rte. 9, 
Mackinaw, IL  61755 

 
P.I.N. 13-13-14-400-004; an approximate  25.5 +/- acres utilized of an existing 37.67 
acre parcel located in part of the SE ¼ of the NE ¼ and part of the NE ¼ of the SE ¼ 
of Sec 14, T24N, R2W of the 3rd P.M., Mackinaw Twp., Tazewell Co., IL; 

 
 located in a field at the SW corner of the intersection of Fast Ave. and Lilly Rd., Mackinaw, 

IL. 
 
REQUESTED BY: Fast Ave Solar, LLC. 
 
PROPOSAL: The petition of Fast Ave. Solar, LLC for a Special Use to allow the construction of a 5 

Mega Watt Commercial Solar Farm (originally a part of Case No. 18-33-S on 
8/7/2018 and extended 9/1/2020) in an A-1 Agriculture Preservation District 

 
PARTIES OF RECORD: Seth Uphoff, Attorney on behalf of Petitioner 
    Ben Sych, New Leaf Energy d/b/a Fast Ave Solar, LLC, Petitioner 
                   

B. JURISDICTION 
 
NOTICE OF HEARING: A notice of the proposed Special Use thereon was published in the 

Tazewell Chronicle on May 29, 2024 and a copy of the publication 
was mailed to the petitioner within five working days after publication. 

 
AGENCY COMMENTS:    The Tazewell County Land Use Planner submitted a report 

recommending approval of the proposed Special Use request. 
 

Tazewell County Health Department submitted a report regarding the 
proposed Special Use request stating portable toilets and portable 
handwashing stations must be provided during construction. 
 
Tazewell County Soil & Water Conservation District submitted a 
report regarding the proposed Special Use request recommending 
denial. 
 
Tazewell County Farm Bureau made no comment regarding the 
proposed Special Use request. 
 
 

64



 2 

Dan Parr, Tazewell County Highway Engineer made no comment 
regarding the proposed Special Use request. 
 
Mike Rankin, Mackinaw Township Road District made no comment 
regarding the proposed Special Use request. 
 

C. FINDINGS OF FACTS 
 
The Zoning Board of Appeals adopted the following findings of fact relating to the action proposed: 
 
1. The Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the 

Tazewell County Zoning Ordinance for the district in which it is located.  
 
(Positive) The construction of a solar farm is permitted special use within an A-1 Agricultural 
District. Therefore the proposed special use conforms to Tazewell County Code.      
 

2. The Special Use will be consistent with the purposes, goals, objectives, and standards of the 
officially adopted County Comprehensive Land Use Plan and these regulations, or of any 
officially adopted Comprehensive Plan of a municipality with a 1.5 mile planning jurisdiction.  
 
(POSITIVE) The area identified for special use is within the Malone Township. The proposed 
special use does not contradict any of the purposes, goals, objectives, or standards of the 
Tazewell County Comprehensive Plan. Therefore, this finding is judged to be positive. 

3. The petitioner has met the requirements of Article 25 of the Tazewell County Zoning Code.  
 
(POSITIVE) Per the application, the requirements of Article 25 of the Tazewell County 
Zoning Code have been met. 

4. The Site shall be so situated as to minimize adverse effects, including visual impacts on 
adjacent properties.  
 
(POSITIVE) The proposed special use will plant cedar trees for vegetative  screening and 
meets the required setbacks. These components of the site plan will mitigate any visual 
impacts to the adjacent properties.  

5. The establishment, maintenance or operation of the Special Use shall not be detrimental to 
or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare of the neighboring 
vicinity.  
 
(POSITIVE) To project the general welfare of the neighboring vicinity, the proposed special 
use will be secured by a 7ft fence to limit access, plant cedar trees for vegetative  screening, 
and meet the required setbacks set by Tazewell County. Per the applicant, the transformers 
will be located 720 ft away from the nearest residence to mitigate noise. 
 

6. The Special Use shall not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted. 
 
(POSITIVE) The proposed special use incorporates the following safety measures: a 7ft 
fence, vegetative  screening, and required setbacks. The incorporation of these measures 
help protect the enjoyment of the other properties in the immediate vicinity.   

7. The Special Use shall not substantially diminish and impair property values within the 
neighborhood.  
 

65



 3 

(POSITIVE) There is no evidence that consistently guarantees that the development of a 
solar farm will diminish property values for there are studies that support and refute this 
claim. But efforts are being made to mitigate any impacts to property values such as 
following Tazewell County Zoning Code, having 7ft fence surround the property, and 
meeting setback requirements.   

8. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and other necessary facilities have been or 
are being provided.  
 
(POSITIVE) Per the application, all utilities and necessary facilities will be provided. 

9. Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 
as to minimize traffic congestion and hazard on the public streets.  
 
(POSITIVE) The proposed special use will temporarily increase traffic during the 
construction phase. The proposed site can accommodate 40 personal vehicles and 5 
tractor-trailers. During construction there will be temporary on-site locations for truck staging. 
Any truck that is not off-loading will not be allowed to be idle for more than five minutes. After 
construction there will be little to no traffic to or from the site outside the occasional 
maintenance visit. 

10. The evidence establishes that granting the use, which is located one-half mile or less from a 
livestock feeding operation, will not increase the population density around the livestock 
feeding operation to such levels as would hinder the operation or expansion of such 
operation.  
 
Not Applicable 

         
11. Evidence presented establishes that granting the use, which is located more than one-half 

mile from a livestock feeding operation, will not hinder the operation or expansion of such 
operation.  
 
Not Applicable 
 

12. Seventy-five percent (75%) of the site contains soils having a productivity index of less than 
125.  
 
(POSITIVE) The proposed site does contain prime soil. But only 28.5 acres of the 37.7-acre 
parcel will be used for the solar farm. The remaining 9.2 acres can still be used for 
agricultural uses. After the life of the project the land can be reverted to farmland, per the 
applicant’s Agricultural Impact Mitigation Agreement (AIMA). 

13. The Special Use is consistent with the existing uses of property within the general area of 
the property in question.  
 
(POSITIVE) The general area surrounding the property in question are mostly A-1 districts. 
These districts permitted the construction of a solar farm through special use.  Therefore, 
the proposed special use is consistent with the surrounding uses of property. 

14. The property is suitable for the Special Use as proposed.  
 
(POSITIVE) The property in question is currently zoned A-1, which permits the construction 
of a solar farm as a special use. Therefore, the property in question is suitable for the 
proposed special use.  
 

 

66



 4 

D.  DECISION 
 
Having considered the information contained in the petition herein, and the testimony given and 
statements made at the public hearing on said proposal, the Zoning Board of Appeals hereby, 
based on the findings of fact set forth above, recommends approval of the proposed Special Use 
request with the following conditions: 
 
1. The fence style shall be chain-link with steel post, in accordance with the height 

requirements of § 156.06 (B)(1)(f). 
 
2. The Facility Owner shall ensure that all vegetation growing within the perimeter of the Facility 

and all land outside of the perimeter fence identified in the agreement as a part of the lease 
is properly and appropriately maintained. Maintenance may include, but not be limited to, 
mowing, trimming, chemical control, or the use of livestock as agreed to by the Landowner. 

 
3. Emergency and non-emergency contact information shall be kept up to date with the 

Community Development Department and be posted in a conspicuous manner at the main 
entrance to the facility and also visible from the public roadway.  

 
4. Vegetative screening, as proposed in the application and in any other location as determined 

desirable by the Community Development Administrator.  
 
5. Cover crop, such as wheat or rye, shall be established prior to construction to prevent 

sediment and erosion control issues during the construction phase. 
 
6. Decommissioning Plan compliant with the current standards of the Tazewell County Solar 

Energy Ordinance. 
 
 
Ayes:   6 –Bong, Cupi, Fehr, Lapsley, McClanahan and Chairman Lessen 
Nays:     0 
Absent: 1 – Vaughn 
 
Dated this 2nd day of July, 2024. 

/s/ DUANE LESSEN                      
Chairman, Zoning Board of Appeals 
Tazewell County, Illinois 

67



68



69



70



71



P-24-20  
 COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Property Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and recommends 
that it be adopted by the Board: 
 
 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

R E S O L U T I O N 
 
WHEREAS, the County's Property Committee recommends to the County Board to approve 
the bid to supply materials and labor to install countertops and cabinetry in the Tazewell 
County Health Department Building, 1800 Broadway, Pekin, Illinois 61554; and  
 
WHEREAS, the following bids for Project #2024-P-13 were submitted for review: GIVSCO 
Construction Company. GIVSCO Construction Company was deemed the best bid option at 
the project cost of $86,700 plus the optional cost of $1,500 for removal/demolition of 
specified window sills for a total cost of $88,200; and  
 
WHEREAS, the project was funded for in the 2024 Capital Improvement Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the County Administrator recommends approving the bid and is authorized to 
move forward with the project as submitted. 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board approve this recommendation. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notifies the County Board Office,  
the Facilities Director, the Finance Director, and the Auditor of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 31st DAY OF JULY, 2024. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk    Tazewell County Board Chairman 
 
 

72



Tazewell County
Project # 2024-P-13
Supply and Install 
Countertops & Cabinetry at 
1800 Broadway Pekin

07.19.2024 @ 10:00 am CST

Bidder:
GIVSCO Construction Co.

Date/Time Received:
07.19.2024 @ 9:53 am

Base Bid:
including all material costs, 
labor, freight, disposal of 
removed materials, repairs, etc.

$86,700

Optional 
Cost/Considerations:

$1,500
Demo of sills

Name of Manufacturer & 
Model of proprosed 
countertops & cabinets (please 
provide Manufacturer's technical 
specification sheet with 
proposal)

Attached to bid document

Rate for Time and Material 
Calculations:

$120/hr.

Warranty Terms:  5 yr craftsman
20 yr materials - manufacturer 

Start Date: 10/01/2024

Completion Date/Number 
of Days to Completion: 10 days

73



  
 
 

 COMMITTEE REPORT   HR-24-16 
 
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Human Resources Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and 
recommends that it be adopted by the Board: 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

R E S O L U T I O N 
 
WHEREAS, the County’s Human Resources Committee recommends to the County 
Board to approve the salary for the Tazewell County Sheriff; and 
 
WHEREAS, 55 ILCS 5/3-6007.5 requires that counties employing a full-time Sheriff set 
the annual compensation of said full-time Sheriff in an amount at least 80% of the 
annual compensation set for the County’s State’s Attorney; and  
 
WHEREAS, the State shall furnish 66 2/3% of the total annual salary to be paid to a 
sheriff and said amounts furnished by the State shall be payable monthly by the 
Department of Revenue out of the Personal Property Tax Replacement Fund or the 
General Revenue Fund to the county in which the sheriff is elected or appointed; and   
 
WHEREAS, the County of Tazewell employs a full-time Sheriff; and 
 
WHEREAS, the compensation for the office of State’s Attorney received a cost of living 
increase effective July 01, 2024; and 
 
WHEREAS, receipt of any stipend from the State of Illinois under 55 ILCS 5/4-6003, 
currently $6,500.00 will not be included in the calculations of salary paid from Tazewell 
County. 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, effective July 01, 2024, the annual compensation of the 
County’s full-time Sheriff position shall be set at $165,372.77, an amount 80% of the 
annual compensation set for the State’s Attorney as of July 01, 2024. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the County Clerk notify the County Board Office, 
Sheriff, Payroll, and the Human Resources Department of this action.  
 
PASSED THIS 31st DAY OF JULY, 2024. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________ __________________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk    Tazewell County Board Chairman 

74



  
 
 

 COMMITTEE REPORT   HR-24-17 
 
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Human Resources Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and 
recommends that it be adopted by the Board: 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

R E S O L U T I O N 
 
WHEREAS, the County’s Human Resources Committee recommends to the County 
Board to approve the salary for the office of the County full-time Chief Public Defender; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, 55 ILCS 5/3-4007 requires that counties employing a full-time public 
defender set the annual compensation of said full-time Public Defender in an amount at 
least 90% of the annual compensation set for the County’s State’s Attorney; and 
 
WHEREAS, the County of Tazewell employs a full-time Public Defender; and 
 
WHEREAS, the compensation for the office of State’s Attorney received a cost of living 
increase effective July 01, 2024. 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, effective July 01, 2024, the annual compensation of the 
County’s full-time Public Defender position shall be set at $186,044.36, an amount 90% 
of the annual compensation set for the State’s Attorney as of July 01, 2024. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the County Clerk notify the County Board Office, Public 
Defender, Payroll, Finance, and the Human Resources Department of this action.  
 
PASSED THIS 31st DAY OF JULY, 2024. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________ __________________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk    Tazewell County Board Chairman 

75



76



  
 
 

 COMMITTEE REPORT   E-24-59 
 
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Executive Committees have considered the following RESOLUTION and 
recommends that it be adopted by the Board: 
 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

R E S O L U T I O N 
 

WHEREAS, the County’s Executive Committee recommends the adoption of the Election 
Judge List presented by the County Clerk; and 
 
WHEREAS, Illinois State Statutes in 10 ILCS 5/13-2 requires the county board at its 
meeting in July in each even-numbered year to select in each election precinct in the 
county, five capable and discreet persons to be judges of election who shall possess the 
qualifications required by the Act. 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board approve this recommendation. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notifies the County Board Office, the 
County Clerk and the Elections’ Supervisor of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 31st DAY OF JULY, 2024. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
________________________________  ________________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk    Tazewell County Board Chairman 
 

77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Executive Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and 
recommends that it be adopted by the Board: 
 
 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

RESOLUTION 
 
WHEREAS, the County’s Executive Committee recommends to the County 
Board to approve the attached amendment to Chapter 95:  Food Establishments 
in the Tazewell County Code of Ordinances: and  
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board approve this 
recommendation. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notifies the County Board 
Office, the Health Department, the Auditor, the State’s Attorney and American 
Legal Publishing of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 31st DAY OF JULY, 2024. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
______________________________                 ________________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk                                  Tazewell County Board Chairman 
 
 
 
 

E-24-73 

244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



CHAPTER 95: FOOD ESTABLISHMENTS 

Section 

   95.01   Definitions 

   95.02   Applicable laws and regulations 

   95.03   Plan submission and approval 

   95.04   Enforcement provisions 

   95.05   Repeal and effective date 

  

   95.99   Penalty 

 

§ 95.01 DEFINITIONS. 

    In addition to the definitions contained in the state’s Department of Public Health Food 
Service Sanitation Code and Retail Food Sanitation Code the following general definitions 
shall apply in the interpretation and enforcement of this chapter. 

   ADULTERATED. The condition of food if it: 

      (1)   Bears or contains any poisonous or deleterious substance in a quantity which may 
render it injurious to health; 

      (2)   Consists in whole or in part of any filthy, putrid, or decomposed substance, or if it is 
otherwise unfit for human consumption; 

      (3)   Has been processed, prepared, packed or held under insanitary conditions, 
whereby it may have become contaminated with filth, or whereby it may have been 
rendered injurious to health; or 

      (4)   Is in whole or in part of the product of a diseased animal which has died otherwise 
than by slaughter. 

      (5)   Its container is composed in whole or in part of any poisonous or deleterious 
substance which may render the contents injurious to health. 

   ANNUAL PERMIT. A food license good from January 1 of the current year through 
December 31 of the current year. 

   APPLICANT. Any person making application to the Board of Health for a permit. 

   APPROVED. Acceptable to the Board of Health based on its determination as to 
conformance with good health practices and standards. 

259



   AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE. Those persons designated by the Board of Health to 
enforce  the provisions of this chapter. 

   BOARD OF HEALTH. The Tazewell County Board of Health as the regulatory authority or 
its authorized representatives. 

   CATEGORY I FACILITY. A food service establishment that presents a high relative risk of 
causing foodborne illness based on the large number of food handling operations typically 
implicated in foodborne outbreaks and/or the type of population served by the facility. 
CATEGORY I FACILITIES include those where the following operations occur: 

      (1)   Cooling of time/temperature control for safety (TCS) foods occurs as part of the 
food handling operation at the facility; 

      (2)   TCS foods are prepared hot or cold and held hot or cold for more than 12 hours; 

      (3)   TCS foods cooked and cooled are reheated for hot holding; 

      (4)   Complex preparation of foods, extensive handling of raw occurs as part of the food 
handling operations at the facility; 

      (5)   Vacuum packaging, curing/ smoking meat to preserve it, pasteurizing juice on site 
for sale; shellfish life-support tanks; sprouting seeds and beans; and/or other forms of 
reduced oxygen packaging are performed at the retail level; fermentation of foods and/or 
altering the pH to modify the TCS quality of the food. 

      (6)   Immunocompromised individuals are served, where these individuals compromise 
the majority of the consuming population. 

   CATEGORY II FACILITY. A food service establishment that presents a moderate relative 
risk of causing foodborne illness based upon few food handling operations typically 
implicated in foodborne illness outbreaks. CATEGORY II FACILITIES include those where 
the following operations occur: 

      (1)   Hot or cold foods are held at that temperature for no more than 12 hours and are 
restricted to same day services; 

      (2)   Foods prepared from raw ingredients use only minimal assembly; or 

      (3)   Foods that require complex preparation (whether canned, frozen, or fresh 
prepared) are obtained from approved food processing plants, or category I retail food 
service establishments. 

   CATEGORY III FACILITY. A food service establishment that presents a low relative risk of 
causing foodborne illness based upon few or no food handling operations typically 
implicated in foodborne illness outbreaks. CATEGORY III FACILITIES include those where 
the following operations occur: 

      (1)   Only prepackaged foods are available or served in the facility or dispensed from a 
vending machine, and any time/temperature controlled for safety are commercially 
prepackaged in an approved processing plant; 

260



      (2)   Only limited preparations of non-time/temperature controlled for safety and 
beverages, such as snack foods and carbonated beverages, occurs at the facility; or 

      (3)   Only beverages (alcoholic or non-alcoholic) and/or ice are served at the facility. 

   CATEGORY III LIMITED FACILITY. A location where stand-alone vending machine(s) 
dispense time/temperature controlled for safety pre-packaged food, an ice machine(s), or a 
self-service ice vending kiosk(s) is in operation. 

   CERTIFIED FOOD PROTECTION MANAGER. Any individual who has completed a 
minimum of eight hours of Illinois Department of Public Health-approved training for food 
service sanitation manager certification, inclusive of the examination, and received a 
passing score on the examination set by the certification exam provider accredited under 
standards developed and adopted by the Conference for Food Protection or its successor 
organization, shall be considered to be a certified food service sanitation protection 
manager and maintains a valid certificate.  

   CODE. The administrative rules adopted by the Illinois Department of Public Health 
pertaining to food establishments found at 77 IL Adm. Code 750 "Food Service Sanitation 
Code. 

   CORE ITEM. 

      (1)   A provision in this Code that is not designated as a priority item or a priority 
foundation item. 

      (2)   Includes an item that usually relates to general sanitation, operational controls, 
sanitation standard operating procedures (SSOPs), facilities or structures, equipment 
design, or general maintenance. 

   COTTAGE FOOD OPERATION. An operation conducted by a person who produces or 
packages food or drink, other than foods and drinks listed as prohibited in Public Act 100-
0035 paragraph (1.5) of subsection (b), in a kitchen located in that person's primary 
domestic residence or another appropriately designed and equipped residential or 
commercial-style kitchen on that property for direct sale by the owner, a family member, or 
employee. A COTTAGE FOOD OPERATION may ONLY sell products at a farmer's market in 
Illinois, unless the products have a locally grown agricultural product as the main 
ingredient may be sold on the farm where the agricultural product is grown or delivered 
directly to the consumer kitchen on a farm for direct sale by the owner, a family member, 
or employee. Food and drink produced by a cottage food operation shall be sold directly to 
consumers for their own consumption and not for resale. Sales directly to consumers 
include, but are not limited to, sales at or through: 

(1)  Farmer’s markets 

(2)  Fairs, festivals, public events, or online; 

(3)  Pickup from the private home or farm of the cottage food operator, it the pickup is 
not prohibited by any law of the unit of local government that applies equally to all 
cottage food operations; in a municipality with a population of 1,000,000 or more, a 

261



cottage food operator shall comply with any law of the municipality that applies 
equally to all home-based businesses; 

(4)  Delivery to the customer; and  

(5)  Pickup from a third–party private property with the consent of the third-party 
property holder. 

   EQUIPMENT. Stoves, ovens, ranges, hoods, slicers, mixers, meat blocks, tables, counters, 
refrigerators, sinks, dishwashing machines, steam tables, and similar items other than 
utensils, used in the operation of a food service establishment. 

   EXEMPT. Those organizations that are not required to pay an annual retail food service 
establishment permit fee. 

   EXEMPT ORGANIZATIONS. Includes schools, churches, veteran/military organizations, 
level 1-3 food pantries and governmental taxing bodies such as park districts, libraries, fire 
districts, police departments and townships. 

   FARMERS MARKETS. A common facility or area where farmers gather to sell a variety of 
fresh fruits and vegetables and other locally produced farm and food products directly to 
consumers.     

   FOOD. Any raw, cooked, or processed edible substance, ice, beverage or ingredient used 
or intended for use or for sale in whole or in part for human consumption. 

   FOOD HANDLER (FOOD EMPLOYEE). Any individual working with unpackaged food, food 
equipment or utensils, or food contact surfaces. FOOD HANDLER does not include unpaid 
volunteers in a food establishment, whether permanent or temporary. 

   FOOD PANTRY. An individual site that distributes bags or boxes of food directly to those 
in need and who reside in a specified area. There are three levels of food pantries: 

      Level 3: Pantries with only packaged non-TCS foods such as canned and packaged dry 
goods and whole uncut produce.  

      Level 2: Pantries with non-TCS food and TCS food that is frozen or refrigerated. 

      Level 1: Pantries with non-TCS food and TCS food that is frozen or refrigerated. Minimal 
food handling occurs such as bulk packaged food that are is broken down and repackaged. 

   GOOD RETAIL PRACTICES. Food safety management system to control basic operational 
and sanitation conditions within a food establishment. 

   HACCP PLAN. A written document that delineates the formal procedures for following the 
Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points principles developed by The National Advisory 
Committee on Microbiological Criteria for Foods. 

   LOCAL HEALTH DEPARTMENT. The County Health Department. 

262



   MISBRANDED. The presence of any written, printed, or graphic matter upon or 
accompanying food or containers of food which is false or misleading. 

   MULTIPLE USE SEASONAL TEMPORARY FOOD PERMIT.  The document issued by the 
Board of Health that authorizes a temporary food establishment to operate for no more six 
months and is valid for one or more events at the location noted on the permit. 

   OFFSITE TEMPORARY FOOD PERMIT. The document issued by the Board of Health that  
authorizes permitted county food establishments to operate off premises. 

   PERMIT. The document issued by the Board of Health that authorizes a person to operate 
a food establishment. 

   PERMIT HOLDER.  The entity that is legally responsible for the operation of the food 
establishment, such as owner, the owner's agent or other person, and possesses a valid 
permit to operate the food establishment. 

   PERSON. Any individual, partnership, corporation, association or other legal entity 
government or governmental subdivision or agency. 

   PERSON IN CHARGE (PIC). Means the individual present at a food establishment who is 
responsible for the operation at the time of inspection. 

   PLAN REVIEW. An evaluation process conducted by the Board of Health to ensure that 
food establishments are built or renovated according to current Code regulations or rules; 
to establish an organized and efficient flow of food; and to eliminate code violations prior 
to construction.  

   PREMISES. The physical facility, its contents, and the contiguous land or property under 
the control of the permit holder.  

   PRIORITY ITEM. 

      (1)   A provision in this Code whose application contributes directly to the elimination, 
prevention or reduction to an acceptable level, hazards associated with foodborne illness 
or injury and there is no other provision that more directly controls the hazard. 

      (2)   Includes items with a quantifiable measure to show control of hazards such as 
cooking, reheating, cooling, handwashing; and 

      (3)   An item that is denoted in this Code with a superscript P-P. 

   PRIORITY FOUNDATION ITEM. 

      (1)   A provision in this Code whose application supports, facilitates or enables one or 
more priority items. 

      (2)   Includes an item that requires the purposeful incorporation of specific actions, 
equipment or procedures by industry management to attain control of risk factors that 
contribute to foodborne illness or injury such as personnel training, infrastructure or 
necessary equipment, HACCP plans, documentation or record keeping, and labeling; and 

263



      (3)   An item that is denoted in this Code with a superscript Pf-Pf. 

   REMODEL. Altering the structure (does not include cosmetic remodel). 

      (1)   EXTENSIVE REMODEL or CHANGE OF OWNER. Seventy-five percent or greater of 
facility or any change in ownership 100 to 1,000 square feet - $150; over 1,000 to 10,000 
square feet - $225; over 10,000 square feet and up - $300.  

      (2)   MINOR REMODEL: Less than 75% of facility 100 to 1,000 square feet - $100; over 
1,000 to 10,000 square feet - $150; over 10,000 square feet and up - $200. 

   RETAIL FOOD SERVICE ESTABLISHMENT. An operation that stores, prepares, packages, 
serves, vends food directly to the consumer or any place where food is prepared and 
intended for, though not limited to, individual portion service, and includes the site at 
which individual portions are provided. The term includes any such place regardless of 
whether consumption is on or off the premises and regardless of whether there is a charge 
for the food. The term also includes delicatessen type operations that prepare foods 
intended for individual portion service. The term does not include lodging facilities serving 
only a continental breakfast (a continental breakfast is one limited to only coffee, tea, 
and/or juice and commercial prepared sweet baked goods), private events, private homes 
or a closed family function where food is prepared or served for individual family 
consumption. 

   SANITATION STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURE (SSOP). A written document of 
procedures or programs used to maintain an environment in a sanitary condition for food 
processes to reduce or eliminate foodborne illness risk factors. This also includes 
temperature monitoring systems and verification. 

   SANITIZATION. The application of cumulative heat or chemicals on cleaned food-contact 
surfaces that, when evaluated for efficacy, is sufficient to yield a reduction of 5 logs, which 
is equal to a 99.999% reduction, of representative disease microorganisms of public health 
importance.  

   SEASONAL FOOD SERVICE ESTABLISHMENT. A food service operation, that is operated 
for not more than six months in a licensing period. 

   SINGLE SERVICE UTENSILS. Cups, containers, lids, closures, plates, knives, forks, spoons, 
stirrers, paddles, straws, napkins, wrapping materials, toothpicks, and similar articles for 
one-time, one-person use and then discarded. 

   STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURE (SOP). A step-by-step description of cleaning and 
sanitizing procedures to reduce or eliminate hazards concerning good retail practices.  

   TEMPORARY FOOD ESTABLISHMENT. A food service establishment operates at a fixed 
location for a period of time of not more than 14 consecutive days in conjunction with a 
single special event or celebration. 

   TEMPORARY FOOD PERMIT. Issued to any facility meeting the temporary food service 
guidelines provided from the County Health Department. Category III facilities who wish to 
provide food for a special event requiring food handling operations that are not permitted 

264



under their current retail  food service establishment permit must apply for a temporary 
food permit. An offsite temporary food permit must be obtained if any food service 
establishment, licensed by the Board of Health, operates off- site from where their food 
service establishment permit is issued. 

   TIME/TEMPERATURE CONTROL FOR SAFETY FOOD (formerly "potentially hazardous 
food" (PHF)). 

      (1)   A food that requires time/temperature control for safety (TCS) to limit pathogenic 
microorganism growth or toxin formation. 

      (2)   TIME/TEMPERATURE CONTROL FOR SAFETY FOOD includes: 

         (a)   An animal food that is raw or heat-treated; a plant food that is heat treated or 
consists of raw seed sprouts, cut melons, cut leafy greens, cut tomatoes or mixtures of cut 
tomatoes that are not modified in a way so that they are unable to support pathogenic 
microorganism growth or toxin formation, or garlic-in-oil mixtures that are not modified in 
a way so that they are unable to support pathogenic microorganism growth or toxin 
formation; and 

         (b)   Except as specified in division (3)(d) of this definition, a food that because of the 
interaction of its AW and PH values is designated as product assessment required (PA) in 
Table A or B of this definition. 

      (3)   TIME/TEMPERATURE CONTROL FOR SAFETY FOOD does not include: 

         (a)   An air-cooled hard-boiled egg with shell intact, or an egg with shell intact that is 
not hard-boiled, but has been pasteurized to destroy all viable salmonellae; 

         (b)   A food in an unopened hermetically sealed container that is commercially 
processed to achieve and maintain commercial sterility under conditions of non-
refrigerated storage and distribution; 

         (c)   A food that because of its pH or Aw value, or interaction of Aw and pH values, is 
designated as a non-TCS food in Table A or B of this definition; 

         (d)   A food that is designated as product assessment required (PA) in Table A or B of 
this definition and has undergone a product assessment showing that the growth or toxin 
formation of pathogenic microorganisms that are reasonably likely to occur in that food is 
precluded due to: 

            1.   Intrinsic factors including added or natural characteristics of the food such as 
preservatives, antimicrobials, humectants, acidulants, or nutrients, 

            2.   Extrinsic factors including environmental or operational factors that affect the 
food such as packaging, modified atmosphere such as reduced oxygen packaging, shelf life 
and use, or temperature range of storage and use, or 

            3.   A combination of intrinsic and extrinsic factors; or 

265



         (e)   A food that does not support the growth or toxin formation of pathogenic 
microorganisms in accordance with one of the divisions (3)(a) - (3)(d) of this definition 
even though the food may contain a pathogenic microorganism or chemical or physical 
contaminant at a level sufficient to cause illness or injury. 

   UTENSIL. Any implement used in the storage, preparation, transportation or service of 
food. 

   VARIANCE. A written document issued by the Board of Health that authorizes a 
modification or waiver of one or more requirements of the Code. 

   WHOLESOME. In sound condition, clean, free from contamination and otherwise suitable 
for use as human food. 

(Prior Code, 6 TCC 3-1) (Res. E-20-49, passed 5-27-2020; Res. E-20-73, passed 7-29-2020; 
Res. E-22-95, passed 9-28-2022) 

 

§ 95.02 APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS. 

   The administrative rules adopted by the state’s Department of Public Health pertaining to 
food establishments and retail food stores found at 77 Ill. Adm. Code 750 (Food Service 
Sanitation Code) and 77 Ill. Adm. Code 760 (Retail Food Store Sanitation Code) and all 
subsequent amendments are hereby adopted by reference. The Board of Health is 
authorized to adopt rules to carry out the purpose of this chapter. Three certified copies of 
each shall be on file in the office of the County Clerk’s office. 

(Prior Code, 6 TCC 3-2) (Res. E-20-49, passed 5-27-2020; Res. E-20-73, passed 7-29-2020) 

 

§ 95.03 PLAN SUBMISSION AND APPROVAL. 

   (A)    When a retail food service establishment is constructed or the areas in which food is 
prepared and stored are extensively remodeled, or an existing structure is converted for 
use as a food service establishment, or changes ownership the plans and specifications for 
such construction, remodeling, or alteration shall be submitted to the Board of Health in a 
manner prescribed by the Board of Health for approval before such work has begun. When 
an existing retail food service establishment changes ownership, a new permit will be 
required and plans, and specifications submitted. The plans and specifications shall 
indicate the proposed layout, arrangement, mechanical plans, and construction materials of 
work areas where food is prepared and stored and the location, size, and type of equipment 
and facilities. A menu of food items expected to be prepared at the establishment must be 
submitted including sanitation standard operating procedures. Nothing in this section shall 
be construed to require the Board of Health approval of changes in the menu. 

   (B)   Whenever plans and specifications are required to be submitted to the Board of 
Health, the Board of Health's authorized representative shall inspect the retail food service 

266



establishment prior to the start of the operations, to determine compliance with the 
approval plans and specifications, and with the requirements of this chapter. 

   (C)   For a food service establishment that is required to have a HACCP plan by the code, 
the plan specifications shall include: 

      (1)   Food employee and supervisory training plan that addresses the food safety issues 
of concern. 

      (2)   Description of the product formulation and its intended use; 

      (3)   Flow diagram or operational procedures for the food preparation process 
indicating critical control points; 

      (4)   Hazards associated with each critical control point and preventative measures; 

      (5)   Monitoring systems; 

      (6)   Corrective actions plan for deviations from the critical limits; 

      (7)   Record keeping procedures; 

      (8)   Procedures for verification of HACCP system; 

      (9)   The Board of Health shall treat as confidential in accordance with the law 
information relating to trade secrets and recipe formulation. 

   (D) Prior to operating, cottage food operations must submit the full registration form, pay 
the registration fee, and be approved by the regulatory authority. The registration form 
must include: 

      (1)  A copy of a current certified food protection manager certificate. 

      (2)   A product label for each product category selected demonstrating compliance with 
labeling regulations 

      (3)   Submission of a comprehensive list of all food items being made. 

      (4)   Submission of a food safety plan with appropriate pH test or USDA approve recipe 
for restricted items under the act 

      (5)   If on a private water supply, a copy of water test results showing satisfactory E.coli/ 
coliform bacteria results. 

(Prior Code, 6 TCC 3-3) (Res. E-20-49, passed 5-27-2020; Res. E-20-73, passed 7-29-2020) 

 

§ 95.04 ENFORCEMENT PROVISIONS. 

   (A)   Permits. It shall be unlawful for any person to operate a retail food service 
establishment within the county who does not possess a valid permit which shall be issued 
annually by the Board of Health. Only a person who complies with the requirements of this 

267



ordinance shall be entitled to receive and retain such a permit. Permits shall not be 
transferable from one person and place to another person and place. A valid permit shall be 
posted in conspicuous view of the public in every food service establishment. Permits for 
permanent retail food service establishment shall expire on December 31 of the year 
issued. Permits for temporary retail food service establishments shall be issued for a 
period not to exceed 14 consecutive days. Permits issued to offsite temporary food permits 
shall be valid from the date of issue, shall expire no later than December 31 of that calendar 
year, and are valid for only the location(s) on the permit. Permits for multiple use seasonal 
temporary food are valid for a six-month period and expiring no later than December 31 
beginning the first day the permit is issued and are valid only for the location on the permit. 

      (1)   Issuance of permits. Any person desiring to operate a food service establishment or 
renew an expired permit shall make a written application for a permit at least one week 
prior to the date of opening and or expiration of permit on forms provided by the Board of 
Health. Such application shall be completed and signed by the owner or his/her 
representative and shall include the following: 

         (a)   The applicant's full name, address, and whether such an applicant is an individual, 
firm or corporation. If a partnership, the names of partners and their addresses; 

         (b)   The full name(s), addresses, certified food protection manager number(s), and 
certificate expirations date(s) of the full-time managerial staff person(s) designated as the 
certified food manager(s); 

         (c)   The address of the retail food service establishment; 

         (d)   The billing address of the retail food service establishment; 

         (e)   The type of food service; 

         (f)   Whether the facility has changed its menu items or food handling practices in the 
last year; and 

         (g)   The appropriate fee(s). 

         (h)   Such fees shall be nonrefundable and payable upon receipt of an invoice issued by 
the Board of Health. 

         (i)   Permit fees for permanent food facilities issued after June 30 shall be prorated. 

         (j)   When satisfied that the applicable requirements of this chapter have been met, a 
permit shall be issued to the applicant by the Board of Health. 

         (k)   Permits for permanent retail food service establishment shall expire on December 
31 of the year issued. 

         (l)   Offsite temporary food permit applications must also include: 

            1.   Proof of access to a commissary permitted by the Board of Health; 

            2.   Proof of a certified food manager; 

268



            3.   Hours of access to the commissary permitted by the Board of Health; 

            4.   A list of all items to be prepared and served during the course of permit; 

            5.   Proof of approval from the local governing body to operate in the location for 
which they have applied; 

            6.   A list of all equipment to be utilized; 

            7.   Dates and locations of operations; and 

            8.   Hours of operation including set up and tear down. 

         (m)   Multiple seasonal food permit applications must also include: 

            1.   Food handler training documentation; 

            2.   A list of all items to be prepared and served; 

            3.   Proof of approval from the local governing body to operate in the location for 
which they have applied; 

            4.   A list of all equipment to be utilized; 

            5.   Dates and locations of operations; and 

            6.   Hours of operation including set up and tear down. 

          (n)    Cottage food registrations must also: 

            1. Renew their registration annually prior to operating and pay the registration fee. 
Registration fee is non-refundable once the cottage food application review process 
commences. 

            2.  Reapply if the physical location of the cottage food operation changes. 

            3.  Meet any requirements for recipe changes or updates as listed in the public act. 

      (2)   Renewal of permits. Whenever the review of the inspections for the previous year 
reveals repeated priority, priority foundation or core items, the permit may not be issued 
and the Board of Health shall notify the applicant immediately thereof. Such notice shall 
state the reasons for not renewing the permit. Such notice shall also state that an 
opportunity for a hearing shall be provided for the applicant at a time and place designated 
by the Board of Health. Such a hearing shall be scheduled not later than ten days from the 
date of notice. The notice referred to in this paragraph shall be delivered to the applicant in 
person by the Board of Health or may be sent by registered mail, return receipt requested. 
A permit, which has expired, shall be removed from the establishment by the Board of 
Health.  

      (3)   Food permit fees. The annual fees for food permits shall be: 

Food permits (initial and renewal):   

269



   Category I food permit $350 
   Category II food permit $250 
   Category III food permit $150 
   Category III limited permit fee for stand-alone ice machine(s), ice vending 
kiosk(s), or TCS food vending machine(s) 

$75 

Seasonal food permit fees:  

   Category I food permit $175 
   Category II food permit $125 
   Category III food permit $75 
Plan review fees (new):  

   Category I food permit $400 
   Category II food permit $400 
   Category III food permit $400 
   Category III limited plan review fee for first new stand-alone ice machine, ice 
vending kiosk, or TCS food vending machine 

$100 

   Category III limited plan review fee for each additional stand-alone ice 
machine, ice vending kiosk, or TCS food vending machine to a current Category 
III limited permit holder 

$25 

Plan review (remodel and change of owner):  

   Category I food permit $100 - 
$300 

   Category II food permit $100 - 
$300 

   Category III food permit $100 - 
$300 

Temporary food permit fees:  

   Within five working days or more notice $20 per 
event 

   With less than five working day notice  $30 per 
event 

   With less than five working days notice the second time or beyond $75 per 
event 

On-site/day of event $40 per 
event 

On-site/day of event the second time  $100 per 
event 

Multiple pre-pay $18 per 

270



event 
Off-site temporary food permits $50 
Modification to offsite temporary food permit locations $10 per 

site 
change 

Multiple use seasonal temporary food permits 
Cottage food registration and renewal 
 
Cottage food operation foodborne illness investigation fee: Once allowed under 
the statute which governs cottage food operations, a cottage food foodborne 
illness or complaint investigation will be assessed to the cottage food operator 
at the health authority’s staff hourly rates not to exceed two hundred fifty 
dollars ($250.00) per investigation. An investigation is each separate incident 
requiring an investigation. 

$75 
$30 

  

 

      (4)   Penalty fees. Penalty fees for late renewal shall be assessed as follows: 

Both Exempt and Non-Exempt 

Both Exempt and Non-Exempt 

Late fees (beginning January 1 to January 10) 

   Food permit late fee 

$100 

Late fees (beginning January 11 to January 31): 

   Food permit late fee 

$100 

   Plus per day surcharge 

$5 per day 

Late fees (on February 1) 

   Food permit terminated 

License holder must re-apply 

   For new food permit (a plan review will be required)                                                       $400 

   Late fees will apply 

271



  

      (5)   Suspension of permits. 

         (a)   Permits may be suspended by the Board of Health for failure of the permit holder 
to comply with the requirements of this chapter. A permit holder or operator shall be 
notified in writing that the permit is, upon service of the notice, immediately suspended 
and that an opportunity for a hearing will be provided if a written request for a hearing is 
filed with the Board of Health by the permit holder. 

         (b)   Upon suspension of the permit, the permit shall be removed from the 
establishment by the Board of Health and returned to the Health Department. 
Notwithstanding the other provisions of this chapter, whenever the Board of Health finds 
unsanitary or other conditions in the operation of a retail food service establishment or 
retail food service store which, in its judgment, constitutes a substantial hazard to the 
public health, the Board of Health may without warning, notice, or hearing, issue a written 
notice to the permit holder or operator citing such condition, specifying the corrective 
action to be taken, and specifying the time period within such action shall be taken and if 
operations as a retail food service establishment or retail food service store are to be 
immediately discontinued. Any person to whom such an order is issued shall comply 
immediately therewith, but upon written petition to the Board of Health shall be afforded a 
hearing as soon as possible. 

      (6)   Reinstatement of suspended permits. Any person whose permit has been 
suspended may at any time make application for a reinspection for the purpose of 
reinstatement of the permit. Within ten days following the receipt of written request, 
including a statement signed by the applicant that in his or her opinion the conditions 
causing suspension of the permit has been corrected, the Board of Health shall make a 
reinspection. If the applicant is complying with the requirements of this chapter, the permit 
shall be reinstated. 

      (7)   Revocation of permits. For critical or repeated violations of any of the requirements 
of this chapter, or for interference with the Board of Health in the performance of its duties, 
the permit may be permanently revoked after an opportunity for a hearing has been 
provided by the Board of Health. Prior to such action, the Board of Health shall notify the 
permit holder in writing, stating the reasons for which the permit is subject to revocation 
and advising that the permit shall be permanently revoked at the end of five days following 
service of such notice, unless a request for a hearing is filed with the Board of Health, by the 
permit holder, within such five-day period. A permit may be suspended for a cause pending 
its revocation or a hearing relative thereto. 

      (8)   Hearing. The hearings provided for in this chapter shall be conducted by the Board 
of Health at a time and place designated by it. Any oral testimony given at a hearing shall be 
reported verbatim, and the presiding officer shall make a provision for sufficient copies of 
the transcript. The Board of Health shall make a final finding based upon the complete 
hearing record and shall sustain, modify, or rescind any notice or order considered in the 
hearing. A written report of the hearing decision shall be furnished to the holder of the 
permit by the Board of Health within ten days. 

272



      (9)   Application after revocation. Whenever a revocation of a permit has become final, 
the holder of the revoked permit may make a written inspection for new permit. 

   (B)   Registrations. The following food operations must register and update their 
registrations annually: Cottage food operations, farmers markets and food pantries. Any 
operation requesting to register as one of the above must make written application on 
forms provided by the Board of Health. Such application shall be completed and signed by 
the owner or his/her representative and shall include the following information that is 
applicable: 

      (1)   The applicant's full name, address, and whether such an applicant is an individual, 
firm or corporation. If a partnership, the names of partners and their addresses; 

      (2)   The full name(s), addresses, certified food protection manager number(s), and 
certificate expirations date(s) of the full-time managerial staff person(s) designated as the 
certified food manager(s); 

      (3)   The address of the operation; 

      (4)   The type of food service; 

      (5)   Whether the facility has changed its menu items or food handling practices in the 
last year. 

   (C)   Inspections. 

      (1)   Frequency of inspections. Facilities shall be inspected at least as often as prescribed 
by the following schedule. 

         (a)   Category I facilities shall receive a minimum of three inspections per year, or two 
inspections per year if all of the following conditions are met: 

            1.   A certified food service protection manager is present at all time the facility is in 
operation. (Incidental absences of the certified food service protection manager due to 
illness, short errands off the premises, and the like shall not constitute a violation of this 
section, provided there is documentation that a certified food service sanitation protection 
manager was scheduled to work at that time.); 

            2.   Employees involved in food operations receive a HACCP training exercise, in-
service training in food service sanitation, or attend an educational conference or training 
on food safety or sanitation. 

         (b)   Category II facilities shall receive a minimum of one inspection per year. 

         (c)   Category III facilities shall receive a minimum of one inspection every two years. 

         (d)   Level 1, 2 and 3 food pantry shall receive a minimum of one inspection per year. 
Level 1 food pantries shall receive a minimum of one routine inspection per year. A 
Certified Food Protection Manager is required to be on-site during bulk food breakdown 
and re-packaging. 

273



         (e)   Level 2 food pantries shall receive a minimum of one routine inspection per year. 

         (f)    Level 3 food pantries are exempt from having an annual routine inspection 

         (e) (g)  Farmers markets shall receive a minimum of one inspection per year. 

         (f) (h)  Cottage food operations will be inspected upon a complaint or disease 
outbreak. 

         (g) (i) The Health Authority shall inspect offsite temporary vendors minimum of once 
during their operating season. 

         (h) (j) The Health Authority shall inspect multiple use seasonal temporary operations 
a minimum of once during their operating period. 

      (2)   Right-of-way. The Board of Health, after proper identification, shall be permitted to 
enter at any reasonable time any food service establishment or retail food store in the 
county for the purpose of making inspections to determine compliance with this chapter. It 
shall be permitted to examine the records of the establishments to obtain pertinent 
information pertaining to food and supplies purchased, received, or used, persons 
employed, sanitation standard operating procedures and HACCP plan. 

      (3)   Refusal, Notification and Final Request for Right-of-way. 

        (A) If a person denies right-of-way, the authorized representative shall inform the 
person that: 

           (a) The permit holder is required to allow right-of-way to the authorized 
representative as specified under this ordinance. 

                (1) Right-of-way is a condition of the acceptance and retention of an annual permit 
to operate as specified under this ordinance, and  

                (2) If right-of-way is denied, an order issued by the authorized representative, 
hereinafter referred to as an injunction may be obtained according to law; and 

                (3) Make a final request for right-of-way. 

            (b) If after the authorized representative presents credentials, explains the authority 
upon which right-of-way is requested, and makes a final request for right-of-way, if the 
person in charge continues to refuse right-of-way, the authorized representative shall 
provide details of the denial of right-of-way on an inspection form. 

             (c) If denied right-of-way to a licensed food establishment for an authorized 
purpose, and after complying with this ordinance, the authorized representative may issue 
or apply for an injunction in order to gain right-of-way as provided in law. In addition, the 
authorized representative may seek a temporary restraining order to cease operation until 
the inspection is conducted. Regardless, the board of health may consider suspending the 
license until an inspection is able to be conducted. 

     (4) Refusal to Sign Report 

274



              (a) If a person in charge refuses to sign the report, the authorized representative 
shall inform the person who declines, that this will not affect the license holder’s obligation 
to correct the violation (s) noted in the inspection report within the time frames specified. 

      (3) (5)   Report of inspection. Whenever an inspection of a food service establishment is 
made, the findings shall be recorded on an inspection report form provided for this 
purpose, and shall furnish a copy of such inspection report form to the permit holder or 
operator. Remarks from the inspection shall reference, by section number, the section of 
the code or ordinance violated and shall state the correction to be made. Upon completion 
of an inspection, the Board of Health shall document priority, priority foundation, core and 
good retail practices and timelines for correction. The completed inspection form is a 
public document and shall be made available for the public disclosure to any person who 
requests it under the Freedom of Information Act, being 5 ILCS 140/1 et seq. 

      (4) (6)  Correction of violations. The timing and procedure for the correction of all 
violations noted shall be as provided in the County Health Department Rules. 

   (D)   Issuance of notices. 

      (1)   If an imminent health hazard exists, such as a complete lack of refrigeration, no 
running water or sewage backup, the establishment shall immediately cease food 
operations. Operations shall not be resumed until authorized by the Board of Health. 

      (2)   Timely correction. Except as specified in division (B) of this section, a permit holder 
shall at the time of inspection correct a violation of a priority item or priority foundation 
item of this Code and implement corrective actions for a HACCP plan provision that is not 
in compliance with its critical limit. 

      (3)   Considering the nature of the potential hazard involved and the complexity of the 
corrective action needed, the Board of Health may agree to or specify a longer time frame, 
not to exceed: 

         (a)   Seventy-two hours after the inspection, for the permit holder to correct violations 
of a priority item; or 

         (b)   Ten calendar days after the inspection, for the permit holder to correct violations 
of a priority foundation item or HACCP plan deviations. 

      (4)   In case of temporary establishments and multiple use temporary operations, all 
violations must be corrected prior to operation. Offsite temporary food operations shall 
have all violations corrected immediately. If violations are not corrected and/or pose an 
imminent health hazard, the food establishment shall immediately cease food service 
operations. A permit may be suspended if the licensed Tazewell County Food operation 
commissary is under enforcement of the Tazewell County enforcement procedures. 

   (E)   Service of notices. Notices provided for under this section shall be deemed to have 
been properly served when a copy of the inspection report form or other notice has been 
delivered personally to the permit holder or person in charge, or such notice has been sent 

275



by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested to the last known address of the 
permit holder. A copy of such notice shall be filed with the records of the Board of Health. 

   (F)   Examination and condemnation of food and/or equipment. 

      (1)   Food may be examined or sampled by the Board of Health as may be necessary to 
determine freedom from adulteration or misbranding. The Board of Health may, upon 
written notice to owner or person in charge, place a hold order on any food which is 
determined or has probable cause to believe to be unwholesome or otherwise adulterated 
or disbranded. Under a hold order, food shall be permitted or be suitably stored. It shall be 
unlawful for any person to move or alter a hold order notice or tag placed on food by the 
Board of Health. Neither such food nor the containers thereof shall be relabeled, 
repackaged or reprocessed, altered, disposed of, or destroyed without permission of the 
Board of Health, except on a order by a court of competent jurisdiction. After the owner or 
person in charge has had a hearing as provided in this section, and on the basis of evidence 
produced at such hearing, or on the basis of examination in the event of a written request 
for a hearing is not received within ten days, the Board of Health may vacate the hold order 
or may, by written order, direct the owner or person in charge of food which was placed 
under the hold order to denature or destroy such food or bring it into compliance with the 
provisions of this chapter. Such order shall be stayed if the order is appealed to a court of 
competent jurisdiction within five business days. 

      (2)   Where equipment used in the preparation of food products is found to be a public 
health hazard, unsafe, unsuitable for use, or unsanitary, such equipment shall be taken out 
of use and a hold order (embargo) placed on said items by the Board of Health. Such 
equipment will not be altered, disposed of, or destroyed without permission of the Board of 
Health, except on an order by a court of competent jurisdiction. After the owner or person 
in charge had a hearing as provided in this section, and based on evidence produced at such 
hearing, or on the basis of examination in the event of a written request for a hearing is not 
received within ten days, the Board of Health may vacate the hold order or may, by written 
order, direct the owner or person in charge of the equipment that was placed under the 
hold order to destroy such equipment or bring it into compliance with the provisions of 
this chapter. Such order shall be stayed if the order is appealed to a court of competent 
jurisdiction within five business days. 

   (G)   Procedure when infection is suspected. When the Board of Health has reasonable 
cause to suspect possibility of disease transmission from any food service establishment 
employee, it shall secure a morbidity history of the suspected employee or make any other 
investigation as may be indicated, and take appropriate action. The Board of Health may 
require one or more of the following measures: 

      (1)   Immediate exclusion of the employee from any food handling activities as 
described in the Code; 

      (2)   Immediate closure of the establishment concerned until, in the opinion of the Board 
of Health, no further danger of disease outbreaks exists; 

276



      (3)   Restrictions of employee’s services to some area of the establishment where there 
will be no danger of transmitting the disease; and/or 

      (4)   Adequate medical and laboratory examinations of the employee or other 
employees and of his or their body discharges. 

   (H)   During a public health investigation, the authorized representative may issue an 
order of restriction or exclusion to a suspected food employee or the permit holder without 
prior warning, notice of a hearing, or a hearing if the order: 

      (1) States the reasons for the restriction or exclusion that is ordered; 

      (2) States the evidence that the food employee or permit holder shall provide in order to 
demonstrate that the reasons for the restriction or exclusion are eliminated; 

      (3) States that the suspected food employee or the permit holder may request an appeal 
hearing by submitting a timely request as provided in law; and 

      (4) Provides the name and address of the board of health representative to whom the 
request for an appeal hearing may be made. 

   (H) (I)   Variances. 

      (1)   The regulatory authority may grant a variance by modifying or waiving the 
requirements of this Code if in the opinion of the regulatory authority a health hazard or 
nuisance will not result from this variance. If a variance is granted, the regulatory authority 
shall retain the information in its records for the food establishment. 

      (2)   Before a variance from a requirement of this Code is approved, the information that 
shall be provided by the person requesting the variance and retained in the regulatory 
authority's file on the food establishment includes: 

         (a)   A statement of the proposed variance of the Code requirement citing relevant 
code section numbers; 

         (b)   An analysis of the rationale for how the potential public health hazardous and 
nuisances addressed by the relevant Code sections will be alternatively addressed by the 
proposal; and 

         (c)   A HACCP plan if required as specified as it is relevant to the variance requested. 

         (d)   If the regulatory authority grants a variance, or a HACCP plan is otherwise 
required, the permit holder shall: 

            1.   Comply with the HACCP plans and procedures that are submitted and approved 
as a basis for the modification or waiver; and 

            2.   Maintain and provide to the regulatory authority, upon request, records that 
demonstrate that the following are routinely employed: 

               a.   Procedures for monitoring the critical control points; 

277



               b.   Monitoring of the critical control points; 

               c.   Verification of the effectiveness of the operation or process; and 

               d.   Necessary corrective actions if there is a failure at the critical control point. 

         (e)   Any person who requests a variance from the provisions of these regulations shall 
have the burden of supplying the Board of Health's authorized representative with 
information that demonstrates the conditions exist which warrants the granting of a 
variance. All uncertainties shall be resolved in the interest of the public's health and safety. 

      (3)   The Board of Health may grant a variance if: 

         (a)   Such variance is consistent with the purpose and intent of the most current 
edition of the Illinois Food Service Code and its associated Acts and Codes and this chapter; 
and 

         (b)   It is consistent with the protection of the public health; and 

         (c)   In the opinion of the regulatory authority, a health hazard or nuisance will not 
result from the variance. 

      (4)   A variance shall be revoked or expire if: 

         (a)   In the opinion of the Board of Health the variance results in a health hazard or 
nuisance; or 

         (b)   There is a change of circumstances from those supporting the variance; or 

         (c)   There is a change of ownership of the retail food service establishment. 

      (5)   Any retail food service establishment for which the variance has been denied may 
appeal such denial by requesting a hearing before the Board of Health. 

   (I) (J)   Equipment standards. All new and replacement equipment shall meet or be 
equivalent to applicable National Sanitation Foundation (NSF) standards or, equivalent 
food equipment standards of another recognized testing agency that tests to NSF food 
equipment standards. If NSF food equipment standards do not exist for a piece of 
equipment, the equipment must be inspected and approved by this Department before 
being placed into service. 

(Prior Code, 6 TCC 3-4) (Res. E-20-49, passed 5-27-2020; Res. E-20-73, passed 7-29-2020; 
Res. E-22-95, passed 9-28-2022) Penalty, see § 95.99 

 

§ 95.05 REPEAL AND EFFECTIVE DATE. 

   This chapter shall be in full force and effect within two months upon its adoption as 
provided by law; and all previous versions of the county food service sanitation ordinance, 
adopted by the County Board is hereby repealed. 

278



(Prior Code, 6 TCC 3-6) (Res. E-20-49, passed 5-27-2020; Res. E-20-73, passed 7-29-2020) 

 

§ 95.99 PENALTY. 

   Any person who violates any of the provisions of this chapter shall be guilty of a 
misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be punished by a fine of not more than 
$500. In addition thereto, such persons may be enjoined from continuing such violations. 
Each day upon which such violation occurs shall constitute a separate violation. 

(Prior Code, 6 TCC 3-5) (Res. E-20-49, passed 5-27-2020; Res. E-20-73, passed 7-29-2020) 

279



E-24-85  
COMMITTEE REPORT 

 
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Executive Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and recommends 
that it be adopted by the Board: 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

R E S O L U T I O N 
 

WHEREAS, the Executive Committee recommends to the County Board to approve a 
national opioid settlement agreement; and  
 
WHEREAS, a settlement agreement has been reached with Kroger; and 
 
WHEREAS, a Participation Form for the settlement must be executed and submitted 
before the August 12, 2024 deadline in order to be considered for initial participation 
calculations and payment eligibility; and 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board approve the recommendation and 
authorize the County Board Chairman to sign and execute all documents related to the 
settlement. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notifies the County Board Office, the 
Treasurer and the Auditor of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 31st DAY OF JULY, 2024. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________  ________________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk    Tazewell County Board Chairman 

280



New National Opioids Settlement: Kroger
Opioids Implementation Administrator
opioidsparticipation@rubris.com

Tazewell County, IL
Reference Number: CL-791520

TO LOCAL POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS:
 

THIS PACKAGE CONTAINS DOCUMENTATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE NEW
NATIONAL OPIOIDS SETTLEMENT. YOU MUST TAKE ACTION IN ORDER TO

PARTICIPATE.

Deadline:   August 12, 2024  

A new proposed national opioids settlement (“New National Opioids Settlement”)
has been reached with Kroger (“Settling Defendant”). This Participation Package is
a follow-up communication to the  Notice of National  Opioids Settlement  recently
received electronically by your subdivision. 

You are receiving this  Participation Package  because Illinois is participating in the
Kroger settlement.

If a state does not participate in a particular Settlement, the subdivisions in that
state are not eligible to participate in that Settlement.

This electronic envelope contains: 

 The Participation Form for the Kroger settlement, including a release of any
claims.

 The Illinois Opioid Allocation Agreement 

The  Participation  Form  must  be  executed,  without  alteration,  and
submitted on or before August 12, 2024, in order for your subdivision to
be considered for initial participation calculations and payment eligibility. 

Based upon subdivision participation forms received on or before August 12, 2024,
the subdivision participation rate will be used to determine whether participation is
sufficient  for  the  settlement  to  move  forward  and  whether  a  state  earns  its
maximum  potential  payment  under  the  settlement.  If  the  settlement  moves
forward, your release will become effective. If a settlement does not move forward,
that release will not become effective. 

Any subdivision that does  not participate cannot directly share in the settlement
funds, even if the subdivision’s state is settling and other participating subdivisions
are sharing in settlement funds. Any subdivision that does not participate may also
reduce the amount of money for programs to remediate the opioid crisis in its state.
Please note, a subdivision will not necessarily directly receive settlement funds by
participating; decisions on how settlement funds will be allocated within a state are
subject to intrastate agreements or state statutes.

Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

281

mailto:opioidsparticipation@rubris.com


You are encouraged to discuss the terms and benefits of the New National Opioids
Settlement with your counsel, your Attorney General’s Office, and other contacts
within your state. 

Monies coming to Illinois from the New National Opioids Settlement will be allocated
in  accordance  with  the  Illinois  Opioid  Allocation  Agreement,  a  copy  of  which  is
included  with  this  packet  for  your  reference.  As  stated  above,  even  if  your
subdivision is listed in the Illinois Opioid Allocation Agreement as one eligible to
receive  a  direct  share  of  opioid  settlement  monies,  you  still  must  sign  the
Participation Form for this new settlement in order to receive a direct distribution.
Additionally,  please note that pursuant to Paragraphs 2.B and 2.C of the Illinois
Opioid Allocation  Agreement,  when notified by the Illinois Attorney General  that
Illinois has reached a settlement with one or more Opioid Defendants, participating
local governments shall release their claims against such Opioid Defendant(s).

Information and documents regarding the New National Opioids Settlement can be
found  on  the  national  settlement  website  at
https://nationalopioidsettlement.com/. This  website  will  be  supplemented  as
additional documents are created.

How to return signed forms:

There are three methods for returning the executed  Participation Form and any
supporting documentation to the Implementation Administrator:

(1) Electronic  Signature  via  DocuSign:  Executing  the  Participation  Form
electronically  through  DocuSign  will  return  the  signed  form  to  the
Implementation  Administrator  and  associate  your  form  with  your
subdivision’s records.  Electronic signature is the most efficient method for
returning the  Participation Form, allowing for more timely participation and
the potential to meet higher settlement payment thresholds, and is therefore
strongly encouraged. 

(2) Manual  Signature  returned  via  DocuSign:  DocuSign  allows  forms  to  be
downloaded,  signed  manually,  then  uploaded  to  DocuSign  and  returned
automatically  to  the  Implementation  Administrator.  Please  be  sure  to
complete all fields. As with electronic signature, returning a manually signed
Participation Form via DocuSign will associate your signed forms with your
subdivision’s records.

(3) Manual Signature returned via electronic mail: If your subdivision is unable to
return  an  executed  Participation  Form using  DocuSign,  the  signed
Participation  Form may  be  returned  via  electronic  mail  to
opioidsparticipation@rubris.com.  Please  include  the  name,  state,  and
reference ID of your subdivision in the body of the email and use the subject
line Settlement Participation Form – [Subdivision Name, Subdivision State] –
[Reference ID].

Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

282

mailto:opioidsparticipation@rubris.com
https://nationalopioidsettlement.com/


Detailed instructions on how to sign and return the  Participation Form, including
changing  the  authorized  signer,  can  be  found  at
https://nationalopioidsettlement.com. You  may  also  contact
opioidsparticipation@rubris.com.

The sign-on period for subdivisions ends on August 12, 2024. 

If you have any questions about executing the Participation Form, please contact 
your counsel, the Implementation Administrator at opioidsparticipation@rubris.com,
or the Illinois Attorney General’s Office at opioidsettlement@ilag.gov. 

Thank you, 
 
New National Opioids Settlement Implementation Administrator

The  Implementation  Administrator  is retained  to  provide  the  settlement  notice
required by the New National Opioids Settlement and to manage the collection of
the Participation Form.

Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

283

mailto:opioidsettlement@ilag.gov
mailto:opioidsparticipation@rubris.com
mailto:opioidsparticipation@rubris.com
https://nationalopioidsettlement.com/


Subdivision Participation and Release Form

Governmental Entity: Tazewell County State: IL
Authorized Signatory: /officialname_kroger/
Address 1: /address1_kroger/
Address 2: /address2_kroger/
City, State, Zip: /cit_kr/                                     /state_kr/                       /zi_kr/
Phone: /phone_kroger/
Email: /email_kroger/

The governmental entity identified above (“Governmental Entity”), in order to obtain and
in consideration for the benefits provided to the Governmental Entity pursuant to the Settlement
Agreement dated March 22, 2024 (“Kroger Settlement”), and acting through the undersigned
authorized official,  hereby elects  to participate in the Kroger Settlement,  release all Released
Claims against all Released Entities, and agrees as follows.  

1. The  Governmental  Entity  is  aware  of  and  has  reviewed  the  Kroger  Settlement,
understands that  all  terms  in  this  Participation  and Release  Form have the  meanings
defined therein, and agrees that by executing this Participation and Release Form, the
Governmental  Entity  elects  to  participate  in  the  Kroger  Settlement  and  become  a
Participating Subdivision as provided therein. 

2. The Governmental Entity shall promptly, and in any event no later than 14 days after the
Reference Date and prior to the filing of the Consent Judgment,  dismiss with prejudice
any Released Claims that it has filed.  With respect to any Released Claims pending in In
re National  Prescription Opiate  Litigation,  MDL No.  2804,  the Governmental  Entity
authorizes  the  Plaintiffs’  Executive  Committee  to  execute  and  file  on  behalf  of  the
Governmental Entity a Stipulation of Dismissal with Prejudice substantially in the form
found at https://nationalopioidsettlement.com/.

3. The Governmental  Entity  agrees  to  the  terms  of  the  Kroger  Settlement  pertaining  to
Participating Subdivisions as defined therein. 

4. By  agreeing  to  the  terms  of  the  Kroger  Settlement  and  becoming  a  Releasor,  the
Governmental Entity is entitled to the benefits provided therein, including, if applicable,
monetary payments beginning after the Effective Date. 

5. The  Governmental  Entity  agrees  to  use  any  monies  it  receives  through  the  Kroger
Settlement solely for the purposes provided therein.  

6. The Governmental Entity submits to the jurisdiction of the court in the Governmental
Entity’s state where the Consent Judgment is filed for purposes limited to that court’s role
as  provided  in,  and  for  resolving  disputes  to  the  extent  provided  in,  the  Kroger
Settlement.   The Governmental Entity likewise agrees to arbitrate before the National

1

Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

284



Arbitration  Panel  as  provided  in,  and  for  resolving  disputes  to  the  extent  otherwise
provided in, the Kroger Settlement.

7. The Governmental  Entity  has  the right  to  enforce the Kroger Settlement  as provided
therein.

8. The Governmental Entity, as a Participating Subdivision, hereby becomes a Releasor for
all  purposes  in  the  Kroger  Settlement,  including  without  limitation  all  provisions  of
Section  XI  (Release),  and  along  with  all  departments,  agencies,  divisions,  boards,
commissions,  districts,  instrumentalities  of any kind and attorneys,  and any person in
their official capacity elected or appointed to serve any of the foregoing and any agency,
person, or other entity claiming by or through any of the foregoing, and any other entity
identified in the definition of Releasor, provides for a release to the fullest extent of its
authority.  As a Releasor, the Governmental Entity hereby absolutely, unconditionally,
and irrevocably covenants not to bring, file, or claim, or to cause, assist or permit to be
brought, filed,  or claimed,  or to otherwise seek to establish liability for any Released
Claims against any Released Entity in any forum whatsoever.  The releases provided for
in the Kroger Settlement are intended by the Parties to be broad and shall be interpreted
so as to give the Released Entities the broadest possible bar against any liability relating
in  any  way  to  Released  Claims  and  extend  to  the  full  extent  of  the  power  of  the
Governmental Entity to release claims.  The Kroger Settlement shall be a complete bar to
any Released Claim.

9. The Governmental Entity hereby takes on all  rights and obligations of a Participating
Subdivision as set forth in the Kroger Settlement.

10. In  connection  with  the  releases  provided  for  in  the  Kroger  Settlement,  each
Governmental  Entity  expressly  waives,  releases,  and  forever  discharges  any  and  all
provisions,  rights,  and benefits  conferred  by any law of  any state  or  territory  of  the
United  States  or  other  jurisdiction,  or  principle  of  common  law,  which  is  similar,
comparable, or equivalent to § 1542 of the California Civil Code, which reads:

General Release; extent.  A general release does not extend to claims that
the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or
her favor at the time of executing the release that, if known by him or her
would have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or
released party.

A Releasor  may  hereafter  discover  facts  other  than  or  different  from those  which  it
knows, believes,  or assumes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but each
Governmental  Entity  hereby  expressly  waives  and  fully,  finally,  and  forever  settles,
releases and discharges, upon the Effective Date, any and all Released Claims that may
exist  as  of  such date  but  which  Releasors  do  not  know or  suspect  to  exist,  whether
through  ignorance,  oversight,  error,  negligence  or  through  no  fault  whatsoever,  and
which,  if  known,  would  materially  affect  the  Governmental  Entities’  decision  to
participate in the Kroger Settlement.

2

Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

285



11. Nothing herein is intended to modify in any way the terms of the Kroger Settlement, to
which Governmental Entity hereby agrees.  To the extent this Participation and Release
Form is interpreted differently from the Kroger Settlement in any respect, the Kroger
Settlement controls.  

I have all necessary power and authorization to execute this Participation and Release
Form on behalf of the Governmental Entity.

Signature: /signer_1_kroger/                                       

Name: /name_1_kroger/                                        

Title: /title_1_kroger/                                          

Date: /date_1_kroger/                                          

3

Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

286



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

287



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

288



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

289



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

290



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

291



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

292



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

293



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

294



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

295



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

296



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

297



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

298



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

299



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

300



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

301



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

302



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

303



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

304



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

305



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

306



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

307



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

308



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

309



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

310



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

311



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

312



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

313



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

314



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

315



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

316



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

317



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

318



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

319



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

320



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

321



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

322



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

323



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

324



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

325



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

326



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

327



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

328



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

329



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

330



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

331



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

332



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

333



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

334



Docusign Envelope ID: 4B15E6C2-41AA-4AAD-B3C3-F9301636AAA2

335



E-24-87  
COMMITTEE REPORT 

 
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Executive Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and recommends 
that it be adopted by the Board: 
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

R E S O L U T I O N 
 

WHEREAS, the Executive Committee recommends to the County Board to authorize the 
3rd quarterly payment for 2024 per the agreement between Tazewell County and the 
Greater Peoria Economic Development Council; and  
 
WHEREAS, Resolution E-24-14 approved an agreement with GPEDC for twelve months 
from January 1, 2024 through December 31, 2024; and 
 
WHEREAS, Tazewell County agreed to pay the Greater Peoria Economic Development 
Council quarterly installments for the term of this Agreement provided that the full 
County Board approves based upon quarterly review of GPEDC performance.  
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board approve the recommendation and 
authorize payment of the 3rd quarter investment for 2024. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notifies the County Board Office, 
Greater Peoria Economic Development Council, Finance, and the Auditor of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 31st DAY OF JULY, 2024. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________  ________________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk     Tazewell County Board Chairman 

336



Invoice
Date

7/1/2024

Invoice #

2024_07-8.3

Bill To

Tazewell County
David Zimmerman
11 S. Fourth St., Suite 432
Pekin, IL 61554

401 NE Jefferson Ave.
Peoria IL 61603
Tel. (309) 495-5910

Due Date

8/31/2024

Total

Description Amount

2024 Investment  - 3 of 4 18,750.00

$18,750.00

337



COMMITTEE REPORT

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board:

Your Executive Committees have considered the following RESOLUTION and recommends 
that it be adopted by the Board:

RESOLUTION

WHEREAS, the County acquired the following described real property as and for right-
of-way from Ira James Dawson and Sharon L. Dawson for the purpose of 
constructing improvements to Broadway Road: 

A part of the Northeast Quarter of Section 5, Township 24 North, Range 4 West 
of the Third Principal Meridian, Tazewell County, Illinois and being more 
particularly described as follows:  

Commencing at the northeast corner of said Northeast Quarter of Section 5, 
thence South 89 degrees 05 minutes 55 seconds West, along the north line of the 
Northeast Quarter of Section 5, a distance of 648.93 feet; thence South 00 degrees 
54 minutes 05 seconds East, a distance of 51.10 feet to a point being on the 
existing southerly right of way line of Broadway Road; thence South 89 
degrees 06 minutes 48 seconds West, along said existing southerly right of way 
line, a distance of 129.84 feet to the Point of Beginning;  

Thence continuing South 89 degrees 06 minutes 48 seconds West, along 
said existing southerly right of way line, a distance of 109.14 feet to a point 
being on the proposed southerly right of way line, the following three courses are 
along said proposed right of way line; thence North 00 degrees 52 minutes 09 
seconds West, a distance of 9.96 feet; thence North 89 degrees 07 minutes 51 
seconds East, a distance of 109.14 feet; thence South 00 degrees 52 minutes 09 
seconds East, a distance of 9.93 feet to the Point of Beginning, and containing 
1,086 square feet, more or less, or 0.025 acres, more or less, situated in the 
County of Tazewell, State of Illinois. 

PIN:  Part of 11-11-05-200-017 

which real property is generally located on Broadway Road, Pekin, Illinois and is currently 
not being used for right of way purposes (the “Dawson Property”); and  

WHEREAS, the County acquired the following described real property as and for right-
of-way from the Sherman Real Estate, LLC – Pekin 1 Series for the purpose of constructing 
improvements to Broadway Road: 

A part of the Southeast Quarter of Section 32, Township 25 North, Range 4 West 
of the Third Principal Meridian, Tazewell County, Illinois and being more 
particularly described as follows:  

Commencing at the southeast corner of said Southeast Quarter of Section 32, 
thence South 89 degrees 05 minutes 55 seconds West, along the south line of 
the said Southeast Quarter of Section 32, a distance of 498.51 feet; thence North

E-24-88

338



00 degrees 54 minutes 05 seconds West, a distance of 38.93 feet to a point being 
on the existing northerly right of way line of Broadway Road, said point also 
being on the proposed right of way line, as the Point of Beginning;  

The following two courses are along said proposed right of way line; thence 
South 89 degrees 07 minutes 59 seconds West, a distance of 157 .15 feet; thence 
North 00 degrees 52 minutes 37 seconds West, a distance of 15.66 feet to a point 
being on said existing northerly right of way line; thence South 85 degrees 10 
minutes 34 seconds East, along said existing northerly right of way line, a 
distance of 157.93 feet to the Point of Beginning and containing 1,231 square 
feet, more or less, or 0.028 acres, more or less, situated in the County of 
Tazewell, State of Illinois. 

PIN:  Part of 05-05-32-400-005 

which real property is generally located on Broadway Road, Pekin, Illinois and is currently not 
being used for right of way purposes (the “Sherman Property”); and  

WHEREAS, the County Board has determined that it is no longer necessary, appropriate, 
or in the best interests of the County that it retain title to both the Dawson Property and the Sherman 
Property, and that both the Dawson Property and the Sherman Property are not required for the 
use of, or profitable to, the County; and 

WHEREAS, both the Dawson Property and the Sherman Property, because of their 
respective sizes and locations have no value for purposes of sale, and are an actual liability to the 
County for purposes of maintenance and general upkeep; and 

WHEREAS, the County Board finds and determines that the best interests of the County 
and its residents will be served by conveying the Dawson Property to Ira James Dawson and 
Sharon L. Dawson; and 

WHEREAS, the County Board finds and determines that the best interests of the County 
and its residents will be served by conveying the Sherman Property to the Sherman Real Estate, 
LLC – Pekin 1 Series; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the County Board of the County of 
Tazewell and State of Illinois, as follows: 

Section One: The foregoing recitals are incorporated herein as findings of the County 
Board. 

Section Two:  The Chairman of the County Board is hereby authorized and directed to 
convey and transfer the Dawson Property to Ira James Dawson and Sharon L. Dawson by a proper 
deed of conveyance, and the County Clerk is hereby authorized to acknowledge and attest such 
deed and to affix thereto the seal of the County. 

339



Section Three:  The Chairman of the County Board is hereby authorized and 
directed to convey and transfer the Dawson Property to Ira James Dawson and Sharon L. Dawson 
by a proper deed of conveyance, and the County Clerk is hereby authorized to acknowledge and 
attest such deed and to affix thereto the seal of the County. 

Section Four: The Chairman and the Clerk are hereby authorized, respectively, to execute 
and attest such other documents as may be necessary to the conveyance herein authorized. 

Section Five: This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage by 
the County Board, and approval in the manner provided by law. 

PASSED THIS ____ DAY OF ____________, 2024. 

Tazewell County Board Chairman 

ATTEST: 

__________________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk 

340



This instrument prepared by: 
 
BLACK, BLACK & BROWN 
115 Washington Square 
Washington, IL 61571 
 
Return document to: 
 
BLACK, BLACK & BROWN 
115 Washington Square 
Washington, IL 61571 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS INDENTURE WITNESSETH that the Grantor, COUNTY OF TAZEWELL in 
the STATE OF ILLINOIS, an Illinois unit of local government, organized and existing under 
and by virtue of the laws of the State of Illinois, having its principal office at 11 S. 4th Street, Suite 
432, Pekin, Illinois, for and in consideration of the sum of ONE DOLLAR ($1.00) and other good 
and valuable consideration, in hand paid, CONVEYS AND WARRANTS to SHERMAN REAL 
ESTATE, LLC – PEKIN 1 SERIES, an Illinois series limited liability company, the following-
described real estate, to-wit:   
 

A part of the Southeast Quarter of Section 32, Township 25 North, Range 4 West 
of the Third Principal Meridian, Tazewell County, Illinois and being more 
particularly described as follows:  
 
Commencing at the southeast corner of said Southeast Quarter of Section 32, thence 
South 89 degrees 05 minutes 55 seconds West, along the south line of the said 
Southeast Quarter of Section 32, a distance of 498.51 feet; thence North 00 degrees 
54 minutes 05 seconds West, a distance of 38.93 feet to a point being on the existing 
northerly right of way line of Broadway Road, said point also being on the proposed 
right of way line, as the Point of Beginning;  
 
The following two courses are along said proposed right of way line; thence South 
89 degrees 07 minutes 59 seconds West, a distance of 157 .15 feet; thence North 
00 degrees 52 minutes 37 seconds West, a distance of 15.66 feet to a point being 
on said existing northerly right of way line; thence South 85 degrees 10 minutes 34 
seconds East, along said existing northerly right of way line, a distance of 157.93 
feet to the Point of Beginning and containing 1,231 square feet, more or less, or 

 
CORPORATE WARRANTY DEED 

 

341



0.028 acres, more or less, situated in the County of Tazewell, State of Illinois. 
 
PIN:  Part of 05-05-32-400-005 
 
This deed is made, executed, and delivered pursuant to authority given by the County 

Board of said Illinois unit of local government.   
This conveyance is made subject to easements and restrictions of record and to real estate 

taxes subsequent to the year 2023 and thereafter. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said County of Tazewell, an Illinois unit of local 

government, has caused its corporate seal to be affixed and these presents to be signed by its 
Chairman, and attested by its County Clerk, this ______ day of ______________, 2024. 
 

COUNTY OF TAZEWELL, ILLINOIS, 
an Illinois unit of local government 
 

 
 

By        
        Its Chairman  
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________ 

County Clerk 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF ILLINOIS, )  
    ) ss. 
COUNTY OF TAZEWELL, ) 
 

I, _____________________________, a notary public, in and for said County in the State 
aforesaid, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that DAVID ZIMMERMAN, personally known to me to be 
the Chairman of the Tazewell County Board, and JOHN C. ACKERMAN, personally known to 
me to be the County Clerk of said Illinois unit of local government, whose names are subscribed 
to the foregoing instrument, appeared before me this day in person and acknowledged that as such 
Chairman and County Clerk they signed and delivered the said instrument of writing as Chairman 
and County Clerk of said Illinois unit of local government, and caused the seal of said Illinois unit 
of local government to be affixed thereto, pursuant to authority given by the County Board of said 
Illinois unit of local government as their free and voluntary act, and as the free and voluntary act  
  

342



and deed of said Illinois unit of local government for the uses and purposes therein set forth.   
 

GIVEN under my hand and notarial seal this ______ day of ______________, 2024. 
 
 

             
Notary Public   
 

MAIL TAX STATEMENT TO:   
Sherman Real Estate, LLC – Pekin 1 Series 
c/o Jack Sherman 
3361 Oak Hammock Court 
Bonita Springs, FL 34134 
 
 
 

EXEMPT 35 ILCS 200/31-45 (e) 
 

Date: ________________, 2024. 
 
 

_____________________________________________ 
Buyer, Seller or Representative 

 
 
 

343



344



This instrument prepared by: 
 
BLACK, BLACK & BROWN 
115 Washington Square 
Washington, IL 61571 
 
Return document to: 
 
BLACK, BLACK & BROWN 
115 Washington Square 
Washington, IL 61571 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS INDENTURE WITNESSETH that the Grantor, COUNTY OF TAZEWELL in 
the STATE OF ILLINOIS, an Illinois unit of local government, organized and existing under 
and by virtue of the laws of the State of Illinois, having its principal office at 11 S. 4th Street, Suite 
432, Pekin, Illinois, for and in consideration of the sum of ONE DOLLAR ($1.00) and other good 
and valuable consideration, in hand paid, CONVEYS AND WARRANTS to IRA JAMES 
DAWSON and SHARON L. DAWSON, the following-described real estate, to-wit:   
 

A part of the Northeast Quarter of Section 5, Township 24 North, Range 4 West of 
the Third Principal Meridian, Tazewell County, Illinois and being more particularly 
described as follows:  
 
Commencing at the northeast corner of said Northeast Quarter of Section 5, thence 
South 89 degrees 05 minutes 55 seconds West, along the north line of the Northeast 
Quarter of Section 5, a distance of 648.93 feet; thence South 00 degrees 54 minutes 
05 seconds East, a distance of 51.10 feet to a point being on the existing southerly 
right of way line of Broadway Road; thence South 89 degrees 06 minutes 48 
seconds West, along said existing southerly right of way line, a distance of 129.84 
feet to the Point of Beginning;  
 
Thence continuing South 89 degrees 06 minutes 48 seconds West, along said 
existing southerly right of way line, a distance of 109.14 feet to a point being on 
the proposed southerly right of way line, the following three courses are along said 
proposed right of way line; thence North 00 degrees 52 minutes 09 seconds West, 
a distance of 9.96 feet; thence North 89 degrees 07 minutes 51 seconds East, a 
distance of 109.14 feet; thence South 00 degrees 52 minutes 09 seconds East, a 

 
CORPORATE WARRANTY DEED 

 

345



distance of 9.93 feet to the Point of Beginning, and containing 1,086 square feet, 
more or less, or 0.025 acres, more or less, situated in the County of Tazewell, State 
of Illinois. 
 
PIN:  Part of 11-11-05-200-017 
 
This deed is made, executed, and delivered pursuant to authority given by the County 

Board of said Illinois unit of local government.   
This conveyance is made subject to easements and restrictions of record and to real estate 

taxes subsequent to the year 2023 and thereafter. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said County of Tazewell, an Illinois unit of local 

government, has caused its corporate seal to be affixed and these presents to be signed by its 
Chairman, and attested by its County Clerk, this ______ day of ______________, 2024. 
 

COUNTY OF TAZEWELL, ILLINOIS, 
an Illinois unit of local government 
 

 
 

By        
        Its Chairman  
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________ 

County Clerk 
 
 
STATE OF ILLINOIS, )  
    ) ss. 
COUNTY OF TAZEWELL, ) 
 

I, _____________________________, a notary public, in and for said County in the State 
aforesaid, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that DAVID ZIMMERMAN, personally known to me to be 
the Chairman of the Tazewell County Board, and JOHN C. ACKERMAN, personally known to 
me to be the County Clerk of said Illinois unit of local government, whose names are subscribed 
to the foregoing instrument, appeared before me this day in person and acknowledged that as such 
Chairman and County Clerk they signed and delivered the said instrument of writing as Chairman 
and County Clerk of said Illinois unit of local government, and caused the seal of said Illinois unit 
of local government to be affixed thereto, pursuant to authority given by the County Board of said 
Illinois unit of local government as their free and voluntary act, and as the free and voluntary act  
  

346



and deed of said Illinois unit of local government for the uses and purposes therein set forth.   
 

GIVEN under my hand and notarial seal this ______ day of ______________, 2024. 
 

 
 

             
Notary Public   
 
 

MAIL TAX STATEMENT TO:   
Ira James Dawson 
12 White Pine Lane 
Pekin, IL 61554 
 
 

EXEMPT 35 ILCS 200/31-45 (e) 
 

Date: ________________, 2024. 
 
 

_____________________________________________ 
Buyer, Seller or Representative 

 
 
 

347



348



Revised 
E-24-89 

 
 COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Executive Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and recommends that it 
be adopted by the Board: 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

R E S O L U T I O N 
 

WHEREAS, the Executive Committee recommends approving a project change for Habitat for 
Humanity’s Year 1 Energy Transition Community Grant; and  
 
WHEREAS, an Energy Transition Community Grant Program has been created through the 
Illinois Department of Commerce and Economic Opportunity to promote economic development 
to communities that are in an area with a closure or reduced operation of a fossil fuel power 
plant, coal mine, or nuclear plant; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Powerton Station located in the unincorporated area of Tazewell County is 
scheduled to close in 2028, which qualifies Tazewell County as the host entity for the grant; and  
 
WHEREAS, Tazewell County has been awarded $461,827 for Phase 1 and the County Board had 
approved a grant award amount of $100,000 to Habitat for Humanity for the demolition of 
former Gardens Nursing Home in East Peoria for residential construction; and 
 
WHEREAS, the project is not able to move forward with the City of East Peoria providing the 
property to another buyer; and  
 
WHEREAS, Habitat for Humanity is requesting to use the $100,000 grant allocation to demolish a 
home at 1800 American Street and refurbish a home at 1814 American Street for a veteran, 
located in Normandale Subdivision in Cincinnati Township, southwest of the City of Pekin; and 
 
WHEREAS, the project change request will be submitted to the State of Illinois.   

            
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board approve this recommendation. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Board Chairman or County Administrator is 
authorized to execute and submit all documents necessary for the grant applications.  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notifies the County Board Office, EMA director, 
and the Auditor of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 31st DAY OF JULY, 2024. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________  ________________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk     Tazewell County Board Chairman 

349



350



351



352



              E-24-90   
 COMMITTEE REPORT      
 
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Executive Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and recommends 
that it be adopted by the Board: 
 
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

 
R E S O L U T I O N 

 
WHEREAS, the County's Executive Committee recommends to the County Board  
to approve the attached Intergovernmental Agreement to Provide Public Transportation in 
Tazewell and Woodford Counties; and  
 
WHEREAS, Tazewell County receives a grant through the State of Illinois to provide rural 
transportation services; and  
 
WHEREAS, Tazewell County Resource Centers is the provider of rural transportation 
services to both Tazewell County and Woodford County; and 
 
WHEREAS, it has been proposed that the state provide a single grant for both counties with 
Tazewell County designated as the primary participant.  
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board approve this recommendation. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notifies the County Board Office, Finance 
Office, and EMA of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 31st DAY OF JULY, 2024. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk    Tazewell County Board Chairman 
 
 

353



354



355



 COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Executive Committees have considered the following RESOLUTION and 
recommends that it be adopted by the Board: 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
     RESOLUTION 
 
WHEREAS, the County’s Executive Committee recommends to the County Board that  
the revised Employment Agreement between Tazewell County and Michael Deluhery as 
County Administrator be approved; and 
 
WHEREAS, the agreement extends the effective date to November 30, 2024; and   
 
WHEREAS, the agreement sets the annual salary to $154,548 effective July 31, 2024 
and $160,729 effective December 1, 2024; and 
 
WHEREAS, the agreement revises the vacation accrual rollover to the current County 
policy of one-hundred twenty hours per calendar year; and 
 
WHEREAS, the agreement adds reimbursing the tuition costs for completing Master of 
Public Administration (MPA) courses on a reimbursement basis until an MPA is obtained; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the agreement adds the County paying the health insurance premiums for 
the administrator for a period of four months if the agreement is terminated by the 
County; and 
 
WHEREAS, the agreement includes other minor changes. 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board approve the recommendation. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notifies the County Board Chairman, 
State’s Attorney, and the Payroll Division of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 31st DAY OF JULY, 2024. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________  ________________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk    Tazewell County Board Chairman 

2nd Revision 
E-24-76 

356



REVISED AGREEMENT 
 
 

 THIS AGREEMENT made this 31st day of July, 2024, by and  

between the COUNTY OF TAZEWELL, ILLINOIS, a body politic and corporate, 

hereinafter called the “Employer”, and Michael Deluhery,in his employment as County 

Administrator for Tazewell County, hereinafter called the “Employee” . 

 
RECITALS 

 
 WHEREAS, the Employer has an existing employee contract with the 

Employee which had a starting effective of May 16, 2022; and 

WHEREAS, the Employer is entering into a revised employment contract with 

Employee on July 31, 2024; and, 

 WHEREAS, the effective dates of said contract are to be July 31, 2024 through 

November 30, 2025; and, 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises hereinafter exchanged,   

and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby 

acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 

 (1) Period of Employment.      This Agreement shall be in full force and 

effect until November 30, 2025, unless it is terminated earlier pursuant to the 

provisions of paragraph (8), (16) or (18) of this Agreement. 

 (2) Employee Duties.      During the period of employment herein 

described, Employee shall perform the duties of County Administrator as set forth by 

law, including but not limited to the laws of the State of Illinois, all rules and ordinances 

of the County Board, the County Administrator’s job description, and such other duties 

as the Tazewell County Board or County Board Chairman may lawfully assign to 

Employee.  In so doing, Employee shall comply with all such laws. 

 (3) Hours of Work.      The parties realize that the position of County 

Administrator requires the person holding such position to work many weekends, 

evenings, and other irregular hours.  It is understood and agreed that Employee shall 

work whatever hours may be necessary in order for him to fulfill the requirements of 

357



the position of County Administrator, but in any event not less than forty (40) hours per 

week. 

 (4) Employees’ Salary.      The Employee shall receive an annual salary of 

$154,548.00 for the period commencing July 31, 2024, and said salary shall be paid in 

bi-weekly installments.  A performance evaluation will be conducted by the Executive 

Committee and the County Board Chairman. Effective December 1, 2024, the 

Employee shall receive an annual salary of $160,729.  Future evaluations and pay 

increases shall become effective the first of December of each year, consistent with 

other County employees.  After December 1, 2024, the Employee will be given an 

annual increase comparable to the increase approved by the County Board for other 

non-union employees with a yearly minimum increase of two percent.  Evaluations are 

based on the period August 1 through July 31, of each year. 

 (5) Performance Evaluation.       The Executive Committee and the County 

Board Chairman shall review and evaluate the performance of the Employee at least 

once annually in advance of the adoption of the annual operating budget. Employee 

shall be given an opportunity to discuss the evaluation with the Executive Committee 

and County Board Chairman.  Said review and evaluation shall be submitted for 

County Board approval in accordance with specific criteria developed by the County 

Board.  Said criteria may be added to or deleted from as the County Board may 

determine as they see fit.  Further, the County Board shall provide the Employee with 

a summary written statement of the findings of the Executive Committee and the 

County Board Chairman. 

 (6) Vacation Pay.      A maximum of one hundred (120) hours, or fifteen (15) 

days of vacation leave may be carried forward from one calendar year. Any vacation 

leave scheduled which exceeds five (5) consecutive work days must be first approved 

by the County Board Chairman.  Upon implementation of the Employment Agreement, 

employee will accrue, effective upon employment date, per pay period at an hourly 

rate, equal to four (4) weeks vacation. All vacation leave earned prior to the effective 

date of this Agreement shall remain intact.  Any vacation leave accrued under the 

terms hereof and remaining unused, at the termination of this Agreement will be paid 

358



in cash to Employee at such time in an amount equal to the number of hours of such 

unused vacation leave multiplied by the Employee’s then current hourly rate of pay.   

 (7) Sick Leave.       Employee shall receive the same sick leave benefits 

provided under the Tazewell County Personnel Policy, and all benefits earned prior to 

the effective date of this Agreement shall remain intact.   

 (8) Disability Termination.      Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement 

to the contrary, the Employer is hereby given the option to terminate this Agreement in 

the event Employee shall, during the term hereof, become permanently disabled as 

the term permanently disabled is hereinafter fixed and defined.  Such option shall be 

exercised by the Employer giving notice to Employee by registered mail, addressed to 

him in care of the Employee at his current residence, or at such other address as 

Employee shall designate in writing.  On the giving of such notice, this Agreement 

shall cease on the last day of the month in which the notice is so mailed, with the 

same force and effect as if such last day of the month were  originally herein set forth 

as the termination date hereof. 

 For the purpose of this Agreement, Employee shall be deemed to have become 

permanently disabled, if, during any year of the term hereof, because of ill health, 

physical or mental disability, or for other causes beyond his control he shall have been 

continuously unable or unwilling or shall have failed to perform his duties for a total 

period of sixty (60) days, irrespective of whether or not such days are consecutive, 

beyond the sick leave time and vacation time accrued.  For the purpose hereof, the 

term “any year of the term hereof” is defined to mean any twelve (12) calendar months 

period commencing December 1 and terminating November 30, during the terms of 

this Agreement.  If Employee becomes permanently disabled then the Employer shall 

have no obligation to Employee for the severance payment as described in paragraph 

16. 

 (9) Automobile.       Employee shall provide his own automobile.  Employee 

is solely responsible for all costs and expenses associated with such automobile, 

including but not limited to purchase, maintenance, insurance, license, registration, 

fines and fees.  The Employer will pay a monthly car allowance of $300.00. 

359



 (10) Other Business Expense.      Upon prior approval of the County Board 

Chairman, the Employer shall reimburse Employee for other Employee business 

expenses, such as, but not limited to, the following: air travel, taxi, auto rental, lodging, 

meals, professional memberships (including ICMA, ILCMA, IACA, GFOA, IGFOA, and 

NACO) and subscriptions to the publications and registration fees for training 

programs or conferences offered by organizations, or as provided in the County 

Personnel Policy.  Such reimbursement is limited to the amount budgeted by the 

County Board in the administrator Expenses line item. 

 The Employer will provide Employee with a laptop computer and cell phone, or 

a mobile phone reimbursement per the Employer’s policy at the Employee’s discretion, 

to be used in performing his duties for Employer according to the same policies 

applicable to other County Employees.   

 (11) Group Medical Insurance Benefits.      The Employer shall offer 

employee health, hospitalization, dental, and optical coverage in accordance with the 

County Personnel Policy.  The employer will make dependent coverage available in 

accordance with the Personnel Policy. The Employer waives any waiting period for 

enrollment. 

 (12)  Tuition Reimbursement.      Employer shall pay tuition costs for the 

Employee to enroll in courses required to obtain a master's degree in public 

administration (MPA) in Northern Illinois University's (NIU) Master of Public 

Administration program. Employee shall receive reimbursement for tuition costs 

following the completion of each academic course term. Employer shall pay 

reimbursements only for those courses in which Employee receives academic credit 

and until Employee obtains the MPA from NIU. 

(13) Other Benefits.       There are 457(b) investment options available.   

(14) Outside Activities.       The ICMA code of conduct is to be strictly 

adhered to including political neutrality.  Employee shall not engage in any activity for 

which he receives compensation without prior approval of the County Board Chairman.  

Employee agrees that he shall not engage in any outside activity which may create an 

actual or perceived conflict of interest.  Employee also agrees to arrange the outside 

360



activity so as not to intrude upon Employee’s ability to devote his full-time and 

attention to Employer’s affairs.  Employee shall sign a statement of no conflict of 

interest and file a copy with the County Clerk when engaging in outside activities for 

compensation.  All work shall be conducted during evenings and weekends unless the 

Employee is authorized to use personal or vacation time by the County Board 

Chairman. 

 (15) Holidays.       Employee shall receive the same paid holidays as are 

afforded to other County Employees. 

 (16) Termination by the Employer.       Employer may terminate this 

Agreement at any time by a two-thirds vote of the County Board in favor of termination.  

It is understood and agreed by the parties that Employee shall be an employee “at will” 

and may be dismissed without cause.  The termination of Employee is so specified in 

the Title 1, Chapter 3 of the Tazewell County Code, Sec. 5. 

 (17) Severance Pay.      In the event the Employer terminates this Agreement 

and Employee’s employment under paragraph (16), the Employer agrees to pay 

Employee twenty weeks severance pay in a single lump sum payment.  Said Payment 

shall be calculated by dividing the Employee’s then current annual salary.  Any 

amounts required to be deducted such as Federal Income Tax, FICA, State Income 

Tax, and IMRF shall be subtracted from the lump sum payment. Employee shall also 

be compensated for unused vacation leave in accordance with paragraph (6).  

Employee agrees to accept these payments as liquidated damages in full satisfaction 

of any rights, compensation, or other benefits Employee may have under the terms of 

this Agreement or otherwise. For a period of four months following the date of 

termination, the Employer shall pay one hundred percent (100%) of the premium costs 

to continue group medical insurance benefits for the Employee and dependents as 

provided in paragraph (11).  

 In the event Employee is terminated after being formally charged in a court of 

competent jurisdiction with any criminal violation committed in his official capacity or 

evidencing dishonesty and the Employer finds that Employee more likely than not 

361



committed such offense then the Employer shall have no obligation to Employee for 

the severance payment described in this paragraph. 

 In the event Employee is terminated after being found guilty by a court of 

competent jurisdiction of any criminal violation committed in his official capacity or 

evidencing dishonesty, or admits to committing any unlawful act involving personal 

gain to him, the Employer shall have no obligation to Employee for the severance 

payment described in this paragraph. 

 In the event the Employee fails to comply with paragraph (14) of this 

Agreement, the Employer may choose to terminate this Agreement and shall have no 

obligation to Employee for the severance payment as described in this paragraph. 

 In the event the Employer decides not to renew or extend this Agreement, the 

Employer shall have no obligation to pay Employee severance pay as described in this 

section. 

 (18) Termination by Employee.      Employee may terminate this Agreement 

at any time by giving forty-five (45) days written notice to the County Board Chairman 

and acceptance by the County Board of such termination. 

(19) Eligibility for Benefits Afforded Other County Employees.
 Except for the benefit categories indicated in previous paragraphs of this 

Agreement, Employee shall receive the same employment benefits as are provided to 

other County Employees.   

(20) Renewal.      The Employer and Employee may meet to discuss the 

renewal of this Agreement at any time during its term. 

 (21) Amendments.      All amendments of this Agreement are invalid and 

ineffective unless reduced to writing and signed by all parties. 

 (22) Indemnification. Unless otherwise prohibited by applicable law,  

Employer shall defend, save harmless, and indemnify Employee against any tort, 

professional liability claim or demand or other legal action, whether groundless or 

otherwise, arising out of an alleged act or omission occurring in the performance of  

Employee's duties as County Administrator or resulting from the exercise of judgment 

or discretion in connection with the performance of official duties or responsibilities, 

362



unless the act or omission involved willful, wanton, or intentional conduct. Legal 

representation, provided by Employer for Employee, shall extend until a final 

determination of the legal action is made, including any appeals brought by either 

party. Employer shall indemnify employee against any and all losses, damages, 

judgments, interest, settlements, fines, court costs, and other reasonable costs and 

expenses of legal proceedings including attorney fees, and any other liabilities 

incurred by, imposed upon, or suffered by such Employee in connection with or 

resulting from any claim, action, suit, or proceeding, actual or threatened, arising out of 

or in connection with the performance of his duties, provided such claim or claims 

does not arise out of a claim for intentional conduct and shall not include punitive 

damages. Any settlement of any claim must be made with prior approval of Employer 

in order for indemnification, as proved in this Section, to be available. Employee 

recognizes that Employer shall have the right to compromise or settle any claim or 

suit; unless, said compromise or settlement is of a personal nature to Employee. 

Further, Employer agrees to pay all reasonable litigation expenses of Employee 

throughout the pendency of any litigation to which the Employee is a party, witness or 

advisor to the Employer. Such expense payments shall continue beyond Employee's 

service to the Employer as long as litigation is pending. Further, Employer agrees to 

pay Employee only reasonable travel expenses when Employee serves as a party or 

witness of Employer regarding pending litigation. Failure of Employee to immediately 

notify Employer of any claim, or legitimate threat, of legal consequence known to 

Employee, where the potential claim is against either Employee or Employer, may 

preclude Employee or the claimant from any future monetary payment by the 

Employer due to the claim and Employee may not bind Employer for settlement of any 

such claims where notice to Employer was concealed. The parties acknowledge that 

this indemnification provision does not extend to any contract dispute between 

Employer and Employee. 

(23) This Agreement.      This Agreement shall be binding upon each of the 

parties and their respective successors, assigns, and heirs as the case may be.  

Employee shall not assign any of the personal services to be rendered by the 

363



employee under this Agreement.  Any such assignment shall constitute employee’s 

written notice of resignation. 

 

 

 

Adopted this 31st day of July, 2024. 

 

ATTEST: 

 

                    

Tazewell County Clerk    Tazewell County Board Chairman 

 

 

ACCEPTED BY: 
 

____________________________ 

Employee 

364



E-24-72 
 

APPOINTMENT 
 

I, David Zimmerman, Chairman of the Tazewell County (Illinois) Board, hereby appoint 
Meghan Brake, 205 N. Runkle Street, Hanna City, Illinois 61536 to the Human Services 
Transportation Planning Commission for a term commencing August 1, 2024 and 
expiring November 30, 2025. 
 
 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
  

TO:  Tazewell County Board 
FROM:  Executive Committee 
 
This Committee has reviewed the appointment of Meghan Brake to the Human Services 
Transportation Planning Commission and we recommend said appointment be 
approved. 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION OF APPROVAL 
 

The Tazewell County Board hereby approves the appointment of Meghan Brake to the 
Human Services Transportation Planning Commission. 
 
The County Clerk shall notify the County Board Office and the County Board Office will 
notify TCRPC, 456 Fulton, Suite 401, Peoria, IL 61602. 
 
PASSED THIS 31st DAY OF JULY, 2024  
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
             
Tazewell County Clerk    Tazewell County Board Chairman 

365



E-24-86 
 

REAPPOINTMENT 
 

I, David Zimmerman, Chairman of the Tazewell County (Illinois) Board, hereby appoint 
Richard Jameson, 417 S. Locust Street, Tremont, IL 61568 to the Tremont Fire Protection 
District for a term commencing August 01, 2024 and expiring April 30, 2027. 
 
 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
  

TO:  Tazewell County Board 
FROM: Executive Committee 
 
This Committee has reviewed the appointment of Richard Jameson to the Tremont Fire 
Protection District and we recommend said appointment be approved. 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION OF APPROVAL 
 

The Tazewell County Board hereby approves the appointment of Richard Jameson to the 
Tremont Fire Protection District. 
 
The County Clerk shall notify the County Board Office and the County Board Office will 
notify McGrath Law Office, P.C., 113 S. Main, PO Box 139, Mackinaw, IL 61755 of this 
action. 
 
PASSED THIS 31st DAY OF JULY, 2024.  
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
              
Tazewell County Clerk     Tazewell County Board Chairman 

366



          Tazewell County Board 
Calendar of Meetings  

                         August 2024 
           
  
 

Zoning Board of Appeals  Tuesday, August 6  Crawford, M. Goddard, Hall, Joesting ,   
 Duane Lessen, Chair   5:30pm – JCCR  Schmidgall, Nelms, Sinn 
 
 County Board    Wednesday, August 7  All County Board Members   
 Special Meeting   6:00 pm – JCCR    
 

Health Services   Thursday, August 8  S. Goddard, Longfellow, Paget,     
 Jay Hall, Chair    5:30pm - TCHD  Sinn, Hopkins, Schmidgall  
 
 Land Use    Tuesday, August 13  Crawford, M. Goddard, Hall, Nelms,     
 Kim Joesting, Chair   5:00pm – Jury Room   Sinn, Schmidgall  
 

 Insurance Review   No August meeting   S. Goddard, Mingus, Rich-Stimson     
 David Zimmerman, Chair     
 
  Transportation   Tuesday, August 20  Crawford, Deppert, Hall, Harris,     
 Greg Menold, Chair   1:30pm - Tremont   Paget, Proehl, Nelms     
 
 Property    Tuesday, August 20  Atkins, M. Goddard, Graff, Joesting,     
 Greg Longfellow, Chair  3:30pm – JCCR  Mingus, Rich-Stimson, Schneider, Hopkins  
             
 Finance    Tuesday, August 20  Atkins, Deppert, S. Goddard,    
 Nick Graff, Chair   following Property – JCCR Harris, Longfellow, Menold,  
            Mingus, Proehl, Rich-Stimson, Schneider   
 
 Human Resources   Tuesday, August 20  Atkins, Deppert, S. Goddard,    
 Tammy Rich-Stimson, Chair  following Finance – JCCR Graff, Harris, Longfellow, Menold,  
          Mingus, Proehl, Schneider   
 

Risk Management  Wednesday, August 21  Atkins, Graff, Hall, Harris, Joesting,     
 David Zimmerman, Chair  4:00pm – Jury Room    Longfellow, Menold, Mingus, Proehl,  
          Rich-Stimson, Schneider 
 

Executive    Wednesday, August 21  Atkins, Graff, Hall, Harris, Joesting, 
 David Zimmerman, Chair  following Risk Management Longfellow, Menold, Mingus, Proehl, 
          Rich-Stimson, Schneider 
 

Board of Health   Monday, August 26  Hall   
      6:30pm - TCHD   
 
 County Board    Wednesday, August 28 All County Board Members   
      6:00 pm – JCCR    
   

 

367


	07-23-24 Property agenda packet.pdf
	P-24-20 Bid approval for countertops and cabinetry for 1800 Broadway.pdf
	2024-P-13 - Bid Award Sheet.pdf
	Sheet1



	07-24-24-Executive-Agenda Packet - revised.pdf
	E-24-85 Opioid Settlement Agreement - Kroger.pdf
	Action_Required_Kroger_National_Opioid_Settl.pdf
	Subdivision Participation and Release Form



	Untitled
	7-31-24 CoBo Agenda - Revised.pdf
	E. Communications from elected and appointed county officials
	Appointments and Reappointments

	E-24-73 Cottage Food and Food Pantry amendment.pdf
	E-24-73 Cottage Food and Food Pantry amendment - resolution.pdf
	RESOLUTION


	July 24 CO BO LU Packet.pdf
	Land Use Summary of Action
	24 25 Special Use Recommendation Class A Cases
	24 25Special Use Report - Class A
	24-25-S Hawk-Attollo Maps
	24 26 Special Use Recommendation Class A Cases
	24 26 Special Use Report - Class A
	24-26-S Fast Ave Prelim Site Plan
	24-26-S Fast Ave Maps




